
A New Generation  
Minerals Producer

Annual Report 2010

A.B.N. 40 009 245 210

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Corporate direCtory

DiRectoRs

Mr Christopher Catlow - Non-executive Chairman 
Mr Martin Hacon - Managing director and Chief executive officer 
dr derek Fisher - Non-executive director 
Mr paul Kopejtka - Non-executive director 
Mr darryl Harris - Non-executive director 

coMPANy secRetARy

Mr Shane Cranswick

ReGisteReD AND PRiNciPAl office

Level 1, 15 rheola Street
West perth Wa 6005

telephone: +61 8 9322 1825
Facsimile:   +61 8 9322 1826

shARe ReGisteR

Computershare investor Services pty Ltd
Level 2
45 St Georges terrace
perth   Wa  6000

telephone:   1300 557 010
international: +61 8 9323 2000
Facsimile:   +61 8 9323 2033

stock exchANGe listiNG

australian Stock exchange Limited
Home Branch – perth
2 the esplanade
perth  Wa  6000

Asx coDe

ido – Fully paid ordinary shares

solicitoRs

Hardy Bowen Lawyers – australia

Hadiputranto, Hadinoto & partners – indonesia 

AuDitoR

KpMG

BANkeRs

australia and New Zealand Banking Group Ltd 

coNteNts

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT 1

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 5

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 15

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 16

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 17

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 18

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 19

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 21

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 57

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT 58

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 60

ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 66F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



iNDo MiNes liMiteD ANNUAL REPORT 2010 1

MaNaGiNG direCtor’S report

iRoN PRoject

indo Mines Limited, through its Joint Venture Company pt Jogja 
Magasa iron, owns a 70% interest in the Jogjakarta iron project 
(“iron project”) located approximately 30 kilometres from the 
major city of Jogjakarta, indonesia. the joint venture partner, 
pt Jogja Magasa Mining, is a consortium of indonesian business 
people including members of the Sultan of Jogjakarta’s family, the 
family of the Kingdom on which the project is sited, and several 
other influential local businessmen.

in November 2008, indo Mines signed a Contract of Work with 
the indonesian Government to develop the iron project. 

locAtioN

indo Mines Limited, through its Joint Venture Company pt Jogja 
Magasa iron, owns a 70% interest in the Jogjakarta pig iron 
project (“Jpip”) located approximately 30 kilometres from the 
major city of Jogjakarta, indonesia. the joint venture partner, 
pt Jogja Magasa Mining, is a consortium of indonesian business 
people including members of the Sultan of Jogjakarta’s family, the 
family of the Kingdom on which the project is sited.

under the strengthened Board and new management team, indo 
Mines limited (“indo Mines” or “the company”) is targeting a 
unique market niche to be the domestic raw material supplier 
of choice to the growing indonesian steel and metals industry, 
as well as a raw materials supplier of choice to the Asian metals 
industry.  the enhanced and highly credentialed Board provide a 
substantial network of contacts in the large capital markets across 
the world and proven capability to identify and fund substantial 
mining and minerals projects.

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



2

MaNaGiNG direCtor’S report (CoNtiNued)

iNDoNesiAN MARket oveRview

indonesia is a democracy with a growing population of over 240 million people, it was the worlds 3rd fastest growing economy in 2009 
and also one of the top performing economies during the global financial crisis. 

indonesia has an extensive mining and metals history and is a significant asian mining nation. the local industry has developed 
significant expertise while maintaining a low production cost base. it has world ranked mineral endowments of coal, copper, gold, 
nickel and its location in close proximity to the other significant growing economies of the world in China, Korea and india.

the indonesian Government has a strong desire for external capital investment and is very supportive of companies willing to work 
with them to fast track projects into production.  

                    
at present indonesia has one of the lowest consumption rates of steel per person in asia. 
With 240 million people, indonesia has the fourth largest population in the world, the 
country has a significant consumer base and the potential for significant domestic growth 
in the consumption of steel and other related products. in august 2010, poSCo announced 
a joint venture with Krakatau Steel to build a new 6 million tonnes per annum steelworks 
adjacent to the existing Krakatau operation.

Gross Domestic Product us$ billion

steel consumption per Person

% GDP Growth
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iNDo MiNes liMiteD ANNUAL REPORT 2010 3

iRoN sANDs AND PiG iRoN oPPoRtuNity

iron Sand is titano-magnetite, an abundant ore produced by volcanic activity which contains up to 60% iron combined with up to 9% 
titania and 0.5% vanadium. although the high titania content reduces the quantity that can be consumed by an iron making blast 
furnace, it is an ideal feed material for the new direct reduced iron (“dri”) technologies being introduced across asia. the ore has the 
added advantage of containing vanadium, a potential valuable by-product. the mining method is simple and low cost. indo Mines is 
currently investigating the option to produce iron concentrate to provide early cash flow to the Company.

pig iron is a direct substitute for scrap metal, which is an essential feed material in Basic oxygen (BoS) and electric arc Furnace (eaF) 
steelmaking. With  reduced availability of scrap due to developing countries still in the construction phase, there is an increasing 
correlation between the pig iron price and iron ore price, as indicated below.

raw material costs are the biggest impact on iron pricing today. the combination of producing a cheap iron concentrate and the very 
low cost locally available thermal coal means that the operating cost for the project is significantly reduced, enabling indo Mines to 
potentially be the lowest cost pig iron producer in the world. 

the PRocess

the Jogjakarta iron sands are very similar to the iron sands currently being mined and processed by Bluescope’s New Zealand Steel 
which has successfully processed iron sand for over 30 years. a review of available technologies is currently being undertaken to 
identify the preferred  low cost pig iron process. 

Mining

there is no overburden removal required in mining the iron sand making the process very simple. the entire material stream is 
processed via a concentrator located near the mining area. the material is extracted from the beach using front end loaders and 
excavator mounted dredge and it is then conveyed through a series of portable conveyors to the concentrator. the mining area will 
impact about 100 to 200 Ha of beach area per year. the material is fed into a number of screens and ball mills and 
the sand is ground until all of the material is smaller than 106 microns. the material is then passed over a series of 
magnetic drum separators with the iron concentrate being pumped into the storage area at the pig iron plant 
while the reject material is pumped back to the mining area. Less than 8% of the beach sand is removed as 
concentrate, the remaining 92% is backfilled into the mined out areas for reclamation.

Rehabilitation

indo Mines and its local partner in indonesia have spent over two years working with the local communities 
detailing how the mining process will impact on them. the area within the iron project boundaries is 
considered extremely marginal for farming with only minor areas that support traditional farming of chilli 
and various fruits. the mine will impact approximately 200 ha of the 3,000ha property per year, on site 
processing of the iron sands will only extract about 6-8% of the total sand mass - the rest of the material 
is returned to the beach for reclamation and rehabilitation. the Company has agreements in place 
committing them to providing support before, during and after mining, an undertaking that ensures the 
farmers will not be adversely affected by mining. indo Mines has commenced a project in conjunction 
with a local university in Jogjakarta to develop more cost effective and productive cropping solutions on the 
rehabilitated mine areas, as well as creating arable farming land from the 1500 hectares of barren sand dunes 
within the project site.
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MaNaGiNG direCtor’S report (CoNtiNued)

PRoject tiMeliNe

indo Mines has already made significant progress in developing the Jogjakarta pig iron plant. the Feasibility Study will take approximately 
a further 9 months to complete.  the project can be constructed in two Stages to enable concentrate sales prior to the completion of 
the pig iron plant. an indicative timeline is outlined below:

 

uPsiDe PoteNtiAl

outside the project boundary, in the near field there is approximately 3 billion tonnes of potential iron sands available for exploration. 
on the island of Java alone there is another 200 kilometres of coastline that could potentially host further targets. indo Mines is actively 
involved in acquiring access to these opportunities with the aim to increase our resource base. importantly, our Contract of Work 
permits the mining and processing of iron sands throughout indonesia.

coAl PRoject

the Company’s first coal production commenced recently at the Mangkok Coal project, an open-cut mining operation which is located 
in a major coal producing region 95 kilometres north of Banjarmasin, the capital of South Kalimantan, indonesia. 

the Company has revised its initial production target to 30,000 tonnes per month of high quality thermal coal and is continuing with 
further exploration across other significant coal opportunities.

this first production marks an important milestone for the Company, which has now established a presence in the substantial coal 
region of Kalimantan. the business will continue to seek additional near term coal production projects in the region to take advantage 
of the strengthening thermal coal prices. a coal asset also provides synergies with the Company’s main iron project with coal required 
in the iron making process and for power generation.

   

Q1

2010

2011

2012

2013

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

BFS
Complete

Environmental
Approval

First 
Concentrate

First 
Pig Iron

Start
Construction

Development Timeline
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iNDo MiNes liMiteD ANNUAL REPORT 2010 5

direCtorS’ report

the directors of indo Mines Limited present their report on the Consolidated entity consisting of indo Mines Limited (“the Company” 
or “indo Mines” or “parent”) and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2010 (“Consolidated 
entity” or “Group”).

DiRectoRs

the names of directors in office at any time during the financial year or since the end of the financial year are:

Mr Christopher Catlow Non-executive Chairman (appointed 25 May 2010)
Mr Martin Hacon  Managing director and Chief executive officer (appointed 2 august 2010)
dr derek Fisher  Non-executive director (appointed 25 May 2010)
Mr paul Kopejtka  Non-executive director (appointed 25 May 2010)
Mr darryl Harris   Non-executive director 
Mr Keith Brooks  Non-executive director
Mr philip Welten  Managing director (resigned 20 May 2010)
Mr ian Middlemas  Non-executive director (resigned 22 June 2010) 

unless otherwise disclosed, directors held their office from 1 July 2009 until the date of this report.

cuRReNt DiRectoRs AND officeRs

christopher catlow – Non executive chairman 
Qualifications - B.Sc, FCA

Chris Catlow is a highly experienced executive in the international resources industry, having worked on the development and 
operations of sand mining, hard rock and oil and gas projects over a 25 year career. He played a central role in the formation of iluka 
resources Limited and most recently was a senior executive of the aSX-listed iron ore mining company Fortescue Metals Group Limited, 
since shortly after its formation in 2003. during his seven years at Fortescue, initially as its inaugural Chief Financial officer and then 
as its investment and Business development director, the company financed and brought into production its major iron ore mining, 
processing and port facility in Western australia’s pilbara region which today produces over 100,000 tonnes of iron ore a day. the 
development established Fortescue as australia’s third largest iron ore producer behind rio tinto and BHp Billiton.

Mr Catlow was appointed a director of indo Mines Limited on 25 May 2010 and during the three year period to the end of the financial 
year, Mr Catlow has held a directorship in Sirius exploration plc (april 2010 – present).

Martin hacon – Managing Director and chief executive officer 
Qualifications – B.Sc. Hons (Metallurgy)

Mr Hacon has over 30 years experience in the Steel industry including 20 years in the ironsand business. Sponsored through Leeds 
university by British Steel Corporation he obtained an honours degree in metallurgy before being appointed to various metallurgical 
development and commissioning roles in the uK. He joined New Zealand Steel in 1987 where he has held a variety of executive and 
managerial roles across the mining, iron making, and steel business playing an important role in the development of that organisation. 
prior to joining indo Mines, Mr Hacon was the inaugural Vice president, mining and Co-products, New Zealand Steel. in this role he 
grew the minerals business through relationships with groups in China, Japan, europe, uSa to be a significant contributor to the 
company and developed future growth opportunities  

Mr Hacon was appointed a director of indo Mines Limited on 2 august 2010 and has not held any other directorships of listed 
companies in the last three years.

Derek fisher – Non-executive Director 
Qualifications - PhD 

dr Fisher has more than 35 years of worldwide experience in the resource industry. He has been the principal in listing a number of 
companies, both in australia and Canada, and has more than 20 years’ experience as a manager of publicly listed companies. dr 
Fisher began his career with the New South Wales Geological Survey in 1966 and, following graduation from the university of New 
england, armidale, NSW, moved into the mineral exploration and mining industry. during the 1970s he undertook doctoral studies 
at the university of toronto, Canada, gaining his phd in 1979. dr Fisher is an honorary life member of the association of Mining and 
exploration Companies (aMeC), having spent 13 years on the council of aMeC.

dr Fisher was appointed a director of indo Mines Limited on 25 May 2010 and during the three year period to the end of the financial 
year, dr Fisher held directorships in Moly Mines Ltd (april 2003 – present) and Cortona resources Ltd (July 2007 – present).

Paul kopejtka – Non-executive Director 
Qualifications – B. Eng (Chem) 

Mr Kopejtka is a founding director of Murchison Metals Limited (aSX: MMX).  He holds a Bachelor of engineering (Chemical) degree 
from Curtin university, specialising in the mineral resources sector. Mr Kopejtka has 22 years experience in the mining industry as an 
engineer and consultant in the areas of green and brown fields project evaluation and feasibility study management, plant design and 
engineering and commissioning. this experience extends to both the australian and overseas mining industry. throughout the 1990s 
he held tenure as a technical consultant with the Minproc and Bateman engineering groups before branching out in a similar capacity 
working with a number of major publicly listed companies.

Mr Kopejtka was appointed a director of indo Mines Limited on 25 May 2010 and during the three year period to the end of the 
financial year, Mr Kopejtka held a directorship in Murchison Metals Ltd (November 2004 – present).

Darryl harris – Non-executive Director 
Qualifications - B.Sc. MAusIMM

darryl Harris is an engineering metallurgist with over 20 years experience in the design and commissioning of mineral processing plants, 
in particular diamonds. Mr Harris has had a long association with engineering companies including Nedpac and Signet engineering 
and was involved in the development of various projects, including project co-ordinator for the an Feng-Kingstream Steel project and 
other australian ferrous projects. 

Mr Harris was appointed a director of indo Mines Limited on 16 June 1987 and during the three year period to the end of the financial 
year, Mr Harris held a directorship in Beacon Minerals Limited (July 2008 – present).
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direCtorS’ report (CoNtiNued)

cuRReNt DiRectoRs AND officeRs (CoNtiNued)

keith Brooks – Non-executive Director 
Qualifications – FCCA, MCT, MBA

Keith Brooks has 30 years international experience spanning the energy, mining and finance sectors. Since 2002 Mr Brooks has been 
involved in projects and venture capital for start-up companies involved in the North american, european and asia capital markets that 
enabled these companies to grow substantially in value. in 1998 he became atlantic richfield Company Ltd’s (arCo) power Group’s 
Chief Financial officer (CFo) based Great yarmouth, arCo was later taken over by Bp in 2000 and he retired from Bp in 2002.

Mr Brooks was appointed a director of indo Mines Limited on 22 March 2006. Mr Brooks has not held any other directorships of listed 
companies in the last three years.

shane cranswick – company secretary 
Qualifications - B.Com, CA, FCIS, F Fin 

Mr Cranswick gained a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the university of Western australia and is a member of the institute of 
Chartered accountants, the institute of Chartered Secretaries and the Financial Services institute of australasia. He commenced his 
career with an international Chartered accounting firm and has since worked in the role of Chief Financial officer and company 
Secretary for a number of listed companies that operate in the resources sector.

Mr Cranswick was appointed Company Secretary of indo Mines Limited on 25 May 2010.

PRiNciPAl Activities

the principal activities of the Consolidated entity during the year consisted of mineral exploration and development activities and there 
has been no change in the nature of those activities.  

DiviDeNDs

No dividends have been declared, provided for or paid in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2010 (2009: nil).

eARNiNGs PeR shARe

2010
cents

2009
cents

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (29.3) (8.7)
diluted earnings/(loss) per share (29.3) (8.7)

coRPoRAte stRuctuRe

indo Mines Limited is a company limited by shares that is incorporated and domiciled in australia.  the Company has prepared a 
consolidated financial report including the entities it incorporated and controlled during the financial year.

coNsoliDAteD Results

2010
$

2009
$

profit/(loss) of the Consolidated entity before income tax expense (27,664,771) (7,052,864)
income tax expense - (108,618)

Net profit/(loss) (27,664,771) (7,161,482)

Net profit/(loss) attributable to minority interest (594,805) (145,656)

Net loss attributable to members of indo Mines Limited (27,069,966) (7,015,826)

Review of oPeRAtioNs AND Activities

the loss after tax of the Consolidated entity for the year ended 30 June 2010 was $27,664,771 (2009: $7,161,482). the loss for the 
year arose primarily as a result of a non-cash share based payment expense of $7.8 million in relation to the funding related milestones 
as part of consideration paid for Fireside resources Limited as well as an impairment of the acquisition cost of Fireside resources of 
$11,293,728 as outlined below. 

during the year the Company acquired Fireside resources Limited (“Fireside”), an unlisted australian public company, which holds 
the rights to an advanced coal project in Southern Kalimantan, indonesia, the Mangkok Coal project (“Mangkok project”), which 
commenced production in July 2010. Fireside is also assessing a number of other resource assets in the republic of indonesia. the 
Mangkok project consists of Block C, which Fireside has contractual rights, as well as Block d, which an affiliate of Fireside, pt rindra 
Bara utama (“rBu”), holds various exploration and development rights.  

Fireside does not have any direct ownership in rBu and as such, the portion of consideration allocated to the additional exploration 
potential of the Mangkok project cannot be recognised as an asset under aaSB 6 and accordingly has been impaired as at 30 June 
2010. For full details of the Fireside transaction approved by shareholders on 21 May 2010, please refer to the Notice of General 
Meeting lodged with aSX and sent to shareholders on 14 april 2010.
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iNDo MiNes liMiteD ANNUAL REPORT 2010 7

as part of the Fireside transaction, the Board of indo Mines was strengthened with the appointment of Mr Christopher Catlow,  
dr derek Fisher and Mr paul Kopejtka, all of whom have demonstrated project development and large scale capital raising experience.

also during the year ended 30 June 2010, indo Mines continued to focus on the development of the Jogjakarta pig iron project  
(“the project”) in indonesia including:

•	 a draft of the environmental impact assessment scoping document (Ka-aMdaL) was compiled during the year and presented 
to the aMdaL review Commission in early august 2010. Following receipt of the Commission’s responses in the latter part 
of august, the Group’s environmental consultants have been revising the document to address preliminary comments and 
incorporate feedback prior to formal review in october 2010. 

•	 the Company continued the socialisation programme for the development of the iron project. in conjunction with its local joint 
venture partner, indo Mines is working with the local government and community groups to broaden the understanding of the 
local land users outlining how the proposed mining process will impact on them, and the potential benefits derived from the 
iron project in terms of job opportunities, improved infrastructure, medical and training facilities and other investment directly 
back into the local community. 

•	 Sampling of the gravel section has commenced on site with over 120 samples already completed. Further work will be 
undertaken review the gravels resource, cut-off grades and potential improvement in recoveries to increase the potential reserve 
available for processing with the aim of increasing overall process plant output.

siGNificANt chANGes iN the stAte of AffAiRs

the following significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated entity occurred during the year:

(i) the Company finalised and sent to shareholders the documentation for consideration in regard to the a$5 million (uS$4 million) 
financing facility (conversion price of a$0.50 per share) with anglo pacific Group plc, with funds from this facility to be used to 
continue the Feasibility Study works, including environmental and social studies, metallurgical testing, infrastructure planning 
and marketing research. this was approved at a General Meeting of shareholders held on 28 october 2009; 

(ii) in accordance with the terms of the Share Sale agreement with Fireside shareholders, and following shareholder approval on  
21 May 2010, the following securities have been issued to the Fireside vendors (refer Note 22 to the Financial Statements for 
full details of performance Shares and Vendor options):

•				20	million	fully	paid	ordinary	shares;

•				20	million	Class	A	Performance	Shares;	

•				20	million	Class	B	Performance	Shares;	

•				15	million	Class	C	Performance	Shares;	

•				20	million	Class	D	Performance	Shares;

•				20	million	Class	E	Performance	Shares;

•				2	million	Class	A	Vendor	Options	exercisable	at	$0.20;	and

•				1	million	Class	B	Vendor	Options	exercisable	at	$1.00.

Following the decision to commence mining and upon the completion of the coal prepayment agreement, the Class B 
performance Shares converted to ordinary shares and an additional 14.4 million fully paid ordinary shares were issued to the 
Fireside vendors;

(iii) on 18 February 2010, the Company announced it had completed a placement of 12 million ordinary shares at $0.25 each, 
predominately to institutional investors, to raise $3 million before costs; and

(iv) on 26 February 2010, the Company issued 5,000,000 shares as consideration in relation to the acquisition of the Jogjakarta pig 
iron project, as approved by shareholders on 30 November 2009.

siGNificANt Post BAlANce DAte eveNts

in July 2010, the Company granted the following incentive options:

•	 7,200,000 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 30 November 2011, vesting upon a volume weighted 
average shares price over 5 trading days of $0.40;

•	 7,200,000 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 31 december 2011, vesting upon a volume weighted 
average shares price over 5 trading days of $0.50; and

•	 7,200,000 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 30 June 2012, vesting upon a volume weighted average 
shares price over 5 trading days of $0.60.

in September 2010, the Company undertook a placement of 17.5 million ordinary shares at $0.20 each to institutional and sophisticated 
investors to raise $3.5 million before costs. Funds raised from the placement will be used to accelerate the feasibility study of the 
Jogjakarta iron project, and to provide general working capital.

other than as outlined above, as at the date of this report there are no matters or circumstances, which have arisen since 30 June 2010 
that have significantly affected or may significantly affect:

(a) the operations, in financial years subsequent to 30 June 2010 of the Consolidated entity;

(b) the results of those operations, in financials years subsequent to 30 June 2010 of the Consolidated entity; or

(c) the state of affairs, in financial years subsequent to 30 June 2010 of the Consolidated entity.
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direCtorS’ report (CoNtiNued)

eNviRoNMeNtAl ReGulAtioN AND PeRfoRMANce

the Consolidated entity’s operations are subject to various environmental laws and regulations under the relevant government’s 
legislation. Full compliance with these laws and regulations is regarded as a minimum standard for all operations to achieve.

instances of environmental non-compliance by an operation are identified either by external compliance audits or inspections by 
relevant government authorities. 

there have been no significant known breaches by the Consolidated entity during the financial year. 

likely DeveloPMeNts AND exPecteD Results 

it is the Board’s current intention that the Consolidated entity will focus on maximising the value of the Company’s Jogjakarta iron 
project in indonesia and is currently undertaking a Feasibility Study for the project, as well as progress the Company’s rights in relation 
to coal from the Mangkok Coal project in South Kalimantan. the Company will also continue to examine new opportunities in mineral 
exploration, particularly in the iron sands and coal sectors.  

all of these activities are inherently risky and the Board is unable to provide certainty that any or all of these activities will be achieved. in 
the opinion of the directors, any further disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the Consolidated 
entity and the expected results of these operations in subsequent financial years may prejudice the interests of the Company and 
accordingly, has not been disclosed.

shARe oPtioNs

as at 30 June 2010 the following share options remain unexercised:

•	 2,000,000 vendor options exercisable at $0.20 each on or before 1 october 2014;

•	 1,000,000 vendor options exercisable at $1.00 each on or before 1 March 2014;

•	 1,500,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.75 each on or before 31 december 2010; and

•	 1,550,000 unlisted options exercisable at $1.20 each on or before 30 November 2010. 

Since 30 June 2010, the following incentive options have been granted:

•	 7,200,000 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 30 November 2011, vesting upon a volume weighted 
average shares price over 5 trading days of $0.40;

•	 7,200,000 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 31 december 2011, vesting upon a volume weighted 
average shares price over 5 trading days of $0.50; and

•	 7,200,000 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 30 June 2012, vesting upon a volume weighted average 
shares price over 5 trading days of $0.60.

No shares have been issued as a result of the exercise of options since 30 June 2010 and no options have expired.

MeetiNGs of DiRectoRs

the following table sets out the number of meetings of the Company’s directors held during the year ended 30 June 2010, and the 
number of meetings attended by each director.

Board Meetings 

Number eligible to attend Number Attended

Christopher Catlow 1 1
derek Fisher 1 1
paul Kopejtka 1 1
darryl Harris 5 5
Keith Brooks 5 4

ian Middlemas 5 4
philip Welten 3 3
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ReMuNeRAtioN RePoRt 

the remuneration policy for the Group’s Key Management personnel (including the Managing director) has been developed by the 
Board taking into account:

•	 the size of the Group;

•	 the size of the management team for the Group;

•	 the nature of the Group’s current operations; and

•	 market conditions and comparable salary levels for companies of a similar size and operating in similar sectors.

in considering the above general factors, the Board has also placed emphasis on the following specific issues:

•	 risks associated with resource companies whilst exploring and developing projects; and

•	 other than profit which may be generated from asset sales (if any), the Group does not expect to be undertaking significant 
profitable operations until sometime after the successful commercialisation, production and sales of commodities from its 
Jogjakarta iron project , or the acquisition of a large scale profitable mining operation.

Remuneration Policy for Executives

the Group’s remuneration policy is to provide a fixed remuneration component and a performance based component (incentive options 
and a cash bonus, see below).  the Board believes that this remuneration policy is appropriate given the stage of development of the 
Group and the activities which it undertakes and is appropriate in aligning Key Management personnel objectives with shareholder 
and business objectives.

Performance Based Remuneration – Incentive Options

the Board has chosen to issue incentive options to Key Management personnel as a key component of the incentive portion of  
their remuneration, in order to attract and retain the services of the Key Management personnel and to provide an incentive linked to 
the performance of the Group.  the Board considers that each Key Management personnel’s experience in the resources industry will 
greatly assist the Group in progressing its projects to the next stage of development and the identification of new projects.  as such, 
the Board believes that the number of incentive options granted to Key Management personnel is commensurate to their value to  
the Group. 

the Board has a policy of granting options to Key Management personnel with exercise prices at and/or above market share price  
(at time of agreement).    as such, incentive options granted to Key Management personnel will generally only be of benefit if the Key 
Management personnel perform to the level whereby the value of the Group increases sufficiently to warrant exercising the incentive 
options granted. 

other than service-based vesting conditions, there are no additional performance criteria on the incentive options granted to  
Key Management personnel, as given the speculative nature of the Group’s activities and the small management team responsible 
for its running, it is considered the performance of the Key Management personnel and the performance and value of the Group are 
closely related. 

Impact of Shareholder Wealth on Key Management Personnel Remuneration

the Board does not directly base remuneration levels on the Group’s share price or movement in the share price over the financial year. 
However, as noted above, a number of Key Management personnel have received options which generally will only be of value should 
the value of the Group’s shares increase sufficiently to warrant exercising the incentive options granted.

as a result of the Group’s exploration, development and new business activities, the Board anticipates that it will retain future earnings 
(if any) and other cash resources for the operation and development of its business. accordingly the Group does not currently have 
a policy with respect to the payment of dividends, and as a result the remuneration policy does not take into account the level of 
dividends or other distributions to shareholders (e.g. return of capital).

Impact of Earnings on Key Management Personnel Remuneration

as discussed above, the Group is currently undertaking a feasibility study, and does not expect to be undertaking significant profitable 
operations until sometime after the successful commercialisation, production and sales of commodities from its Jogjakarta iron project, 
or the acquisition of a large scale profitable mining operation. accordingly the Board does not consider current or prior year earnings 
when assessing remuneration of Key Management personnel.

Remuneration Policy for Non-Executive Directors

the Board policy is to remunerate Non-executive directors at market rates for comparable companies for time, commitment and 
responsibilities. Given the current size, nature and risks of the Group, incentive options have been used to attract and retain Non-
executive directors.  the Board determines payments to the Non-executive directors and reviews their remuneration annually, based 
on market practice, duties and accountability. independent external advice is sought when required. 

the maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to Non-executive directors is subject to approval by shareholders at a General 
Meeting.  Fees for Non-executive directors are not linked to the performance of the economic entity.  However, to align directors’ 
interests with shareholders’ interests, the directors are encouraged to hold shares in the Company and Non-executive directors have 
in limited circumstances received incentive options in order to secure their services.F
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General

Where required, Key Management personnel receive superannuation contributions, currently equal to 9% of their salary, and do not 
receive any other retirement benefit.  From time to time, some individuals have chosen to sacrifice part of their salary to increase 
payments towards superannuation.

all remuneration paid to Key Management personnel is valued at cost to the company and expensed.  incentive options are valued 
using the Black-Scholes option valuation methodology. the value of these incentive options is expensed over the vesting period.

employment contracts with key Management Personnel 

Mr Martin Hacon, Managing director and Chief executive officer of the Group who commenced on 2 august 2010, has a contract of 
employment with indo Mines Limited which specifies the duties and obligations to be fulfilled by the Managing director and Ceo. the 
contract may be terminated by the Company by giving 3 months notice. No amount is payable in the event of termination for neglect 
or incompetence in regards to the performance of duties. Mr Hacon receives a fixed remuneration component of $450,000 per annum 
inclusive of superannuation.

Subject to shareholder approval at the next general meeting of the Company, Mr Hacon is entitled to the following option package in 
accordance with his employment contract:

(i) 1,666,667 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 30 November 2011, vesting upon a volume weighted 
average shares price over 5 trading days of $0.40;

(ii) 1,666,667 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 31 december 2011, vesting upon a volume weighted 
average shares price over 5 trading days of $0.50; and

(iii) 1,666,666 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 30 June 2012, vesting upon a volume weighted average 
shares price over 5 trading days of $0.60.

Mr Shane Cranswick, Company Secretary and Chief Financial officer of the Group who commenced full time on 1 June 2010, has a 
contract of employment with indo Mines Limited which specifies the duties and obligations to be fulfilled by the Company Secretary 
and CFo. the contract may be terminated by the Company by giving 1 month notice. No amount is payable in the event of termination 
for neglect or incompetence in regards to the performance of duties. Mr Cranswick receives a fixed remuneration component of 
$225,000 per annum exclusive of superannuation.

in July 2010, Mr Cranswick was granted the following option package in accordance with his employment contract:

(i) 333,333 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 30 November 2011, vesting upon a volume weighted average 
shares price over 5 trading days of $0.40;

(ii) 333,334 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 31 december 2011, vesting upon a volume weighted average 
shares price over 5 trading days of $0.50; and

(iii) 333,334 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 30 June 2012, vesting upon a volume weighted average shares 
price over 5 trading days of $0.60.
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Notes

(i) Mr Catlow, dr Fisher and Mr Kopejtka were appointed on 25 May 2010.

(ii) Mr Welten resigned on 20 May 2010.

(iii) Mr Middlemas resigned on 22 June 2010.

(iv) Mr rimes resigned on 17 december 2008.

(v) Mr pearce and Mr Cranswick provide services as the Company’s Company Secretary and Chief Financial officer respectively 
through a services agreement with apollo Group pty Ltd.  under the agreement, apollo Group pty Ltd provides administrative, 
company secretarial and accounting services, and the provision of a fully serviced office to the Company for a monthly retainer 
of $17,000 (2009: $16,500). apollo Group pty Ltd is a company controlled by Mr pearce. Mr Cranswick was an employee of 
apollo Group pty Ltd, and became a full time employee of indo Mines Limited on 1 June 2010. Mr pearce resigned and Mr 
Cranswick was appointed as Company Secretary on 25 May 2010.

(vi) all ordinary shares, vendor options and performance shares held by Mr Catlow, dr Fisher and Mr Kopejtka were acquired as a 
result of their respective shareholdings in Fireside resources Limited, which was acquired by indo Mines Limited. refer Note 29 
for full details of the Fireside acquisition. the value of performance Shares received by Mr Catlow, dr Fisher and Mr Kopejtka in 
relation to the funding milestones are as follows (refer Note 22 for valuation details):

class A 
Performance 

shares

class D & e 
Performance 

shares

total

Christopher Catlow 503,194 314,496 817,690
derek Fisher 735,974 459,984 1,195,958
paul Kopejtka 21,322 13,326 34,648

value of options Granted to key Management Personnel 

the following table discloses the value of options granted, exercised or lapsed during the year:

options Granted
Value at  

Grant date(i)

$

options exercised
Value at  

exercise date

$

options lapsed
Value at  

time of Lapse

$

value of options 
included in 

compensation for 
the year(ii)

$

Percentage of 
compensation 

for the year that 
consists of options

%
2010
philip Welten - - (2,606,250)(iii) - -
2009
philip Welten - - - 360,359 56.7

Notes

(i) For details on the valuation of the options, including models and assumptions used, please refer to Note 22 to the financial 
statements. each option converts into one ordinary share of indo Mines on exercise.

(ii) No options were granted to key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2010.

(iii) as at Mr Welten’s date of resignation, 1,250,000 incentive options exercisable at $0.35 previously granted as the incentive 
component of his remuneration package expired unexercised on 31 december 2009. Subsequent to Mr Welten’s resignation, 
1,250,000 incentive options exercisable at $0.45 previously granted as the incentive component of his remuneration package 
expired unexercised on 30 June 2010. an adjustment of $2,606,250 was made to the option premium reserve and retained 
earnings in relation to the value of the abovementioned options that expired unexercised during the year ended 30 June 2010. 
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iNsuRANce of officeRs AND AuDitoRs

under the Constitution the Company is obliged, to the extent permitted by law, to indemnify an officer (including directors) of the 
Company against liabilities incurred by the officer in that capacity, against costs and expenses incurred by the officer in successfully 
defending civil or criminal proceedings, and against any liability which arises out of conduct not involving a lack of good faith.

the Company has in respect of any person who is or has been an officer of the Company or a related body corporate paid or agreed 
to pay a premium of $19,980 (2009: $19,980) in respect of a contract insuring against a liability incurred as an officer for the costs or 
expenses to defend legal proceedings.  

the Company has indemnified officers of the Company against a liability incurred as an officer including costs and expenses in 
successfully defending legal proceedings.

the Company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an auditor of the Company or 
of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an auditor.

NoN-AuDit seRvices

there were no non-audit services provided by the auditor (or by another person or firm on the auditor’s behalf) during the financial year.

AuDitoR’s iNDePeNDeNce DeclARAtioN

the auditor’s independence declaration, which forms part of this directors’ report, for the year ended 30 June 2010 is on page 15.

this report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to section 298(2) of the Corporations act 2001.

For and on behalf of the directors

MARtiN hAcoN
Managing Director & ceo

dated this 30th day of September 2010

 

direCtorS’ report (CoNtiNued)
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leAD AuDitoR’s iNDePeNDeNce DeclARAtioN  
uNDeR sectioN 307c of the coRPoRAtioNs Act 2001

to: the directors of indo Mines Limited

i declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year ended 30 June 2010 there have 
been:

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirement s as set out in the Corporations act 2001 in relation to the audit; 
and

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit/review.

kPMG

BReNt steeDMAN
Partner

perth

30 September 2010

auditor’S iNdepeNdeNCe deCLaratioN
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Note 2010
$

2009
$

continuing operations

exploration, evaluation and development expenditure 2(a) (5,782,949) (1,007,424)
Business development expenses 2(a) (151,853) (117,108)
administration expenses 2(a) (955,809) (847,006)
Results from operating activities (6,890,611) (1,971,538)

impairment of available-for-sale financial assets - (4,645,000)
other exploration expenditure 29(d) (11,293,728) -
Net financial income/(expense) 2(b) (9,506,220) (436,326)
Gain on sale of equity investments 25,788 -

(20,774,160) (5,081,326)
loss before income tax (27,664,771) (7,052,864)
income tax expense 3 - (108,618)
loss from continuing operations (27,664,771) (7,161,482)

other comprehensive income
Cumulative loss/(gain) on available-for-sale financial assets transferred to income statement (150,000) 4,645,000
Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets 20,925 (3,633,375)
reversal of deferred tax liability in respect of available-for-sale financial assets - 262,208
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations (163,189) 2,839
other comprehensive income for the year (292,264) 1,276,672

(27,957,035) (5,884,810)

loss attributable to:
Non-controlling interests (594,805) (145,656)
owners of the Company (27,069,966) (7,015,826)

(27,664,771) (7,161,482)

total comprehensive loss attributable to:
Non-controlling interests (643,166) (144,804)
owners of the Company (27,313,869) (5,740,006)

(27,957,035) (5,884,810)

earnings per share:
Basic profit/(loss) per share from continuing operations (cents per share) 28 (29.3) (8.7)

diluted profit/(loss) per share from continuing operations (cents per share) 28 (29.3) (8.7)

Notes to and forming part of the income Statements are set out on pages 21 to 56.

 

CoNSoLidated StateMeNt oF CoMpreHeNSiVe iNCoMe 
For tHe FiNaNCiaL year eNded 30 JuNe 2010
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Note 2010
$

2009
$

Assets
current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 29(b) 911,453 3,597,562
restricted cash and cash equivalents 270,650 -
trade and other receivables 4 161,026 68,715
prepayments 5 2,181,245 -
other financial assets 6 58,050 1,597,125
total current Assets 3,582,424 5,263,402

Non-current Assets
restricted cash and cash equivalents 140,974 86,286
property, plant and equipment 7 610,025 437,539
exploration and evaluation assets 8 25,783,296 23,507,512
Mining rights 9 6,718,988 -
total Non-current Assets 33,253,283 24,013,337

totAl Assets 36,835,707 29,294,739

liABilities
current liabilities
trade and other payables 10 699,313 684,917
deferred income 11 1,867,632 -
Current tax liabilities 12 - 961,769
provisions 13 3,907 5,158
Borrowings 14 - 4,971,847
total current liabilities 2,570,852 6,623,691

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 15 6,510,401 -
total Non-current liabilities 6,510,401 -

totAl liABilities 9,081,253 6,623,691

Net Assets 27,754,454 22,671,048

eQuity
issued capital 16 66,611,252 34,000,429
reserves 17 1,462,099 4,687,120
accumulated losses 18 (39,637,513) (16,004,914)
total equity attributable to equity holders of the company 28,435,838 22,682,635
Minority interest 19 (681,384) (11,587)

totAl eQuity 27,754,454 22,671,048

Notes to and forming part of the Balance Sheets are set out on pages 21 to 56.

CoNSoLidated StateMeNt oF FiNaNCiaL poSitioN  
aS at 30 JuNe 2010
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Note 2010
$

2009
$

cash flows from operating activities
interest received 75,950 39,269
interest paid (252,602)
income tax paid (961,769) -
payments to suppliers and employees 29(a) (3,348,863) (1,488,672)

Net cash outflows from operating activities (4,487,284) (1,449,403)

cash flows from investing activities
purchase of property, plant and equipment (100,108) (24,804)
payments for exploration, evaluation and development (1,286,196) (2,029,677)
acquisition costs of acquisition of Fireside resources (68,385) -
Cash received on acquisition of Fireside resources 191,952 -
pre-acquisition funds loaned to Fireside resources (3,209,335) -
reimbursement for exploration, evaluation and development - 32,067
proceeds from sale of other financial assets 1,435,788 55,673

Net cash outflows from investing activities (3,036,284) (1,966,741)

cash flows from financing activities
proceeds from issue of shares 5,050,000 30,000
transaction costs from issue of shares (152,823) -
proceeds from borrowings - 5,000,000
Security deposits (54,687) 10,000

Net cash inflows/(outflows) from financing activities 4,842,490 5,040,000

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,681,078) 1,623,856

cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 3,597,562 1,973,439

effects of exchange rate changes (5,031) 267

cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 29(b) 911,453 3,597,562

Notes to and forming part of the Cash Flow Statements are set out on pages 21 to 56. 

CoNSoLidated StateMeNtS oF CaSH FLoWS
For tHe FiNaNCiaL year eNded 30 JuNe 2010
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CoNSoLidated StateMeNtS oF CHaNGeS iN eQuity 
For tHe FiNaNCiaL year eNded 30 JuNe 2010
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1. stAteMeNt of siGNificANt AccouNtiNG Policies

the principal accounting policies adopted in preparing the financial report of the Company, indo Mines Limited and its consolidated 
entities (“Consolidated entity” or “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2010 are stated to assist in a general understanding of the 
financial report. these policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, except as described below.

indo Mines Limited is a company limited by shares incorporated in australia whose shares are publicly traded on the australian 
Securities exchange.

the financial report of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2010 was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the 
directors on 29 September 2010.

(a) financial Position

the Group incurred a loss for the year of $27,664,771 (2009: $7,161,482) and depleted cash by $7,284,018 (before net proceeds from 
financing activities) principally due to net investing activities of $2,995,666 and cash outflows from operations of $4,487,284 as the 
Group continued the development of the Jogjakarta iron project in an effort to progress the project through the development stage 
and fund the Mangkok Coal contract. these cash outflows were funded by a combination of raising capital and use of available cash. 

Subsequent to year end, the Group completed a share placement to sophisticated and professional investors to raise $3.5 million 
before costs.

the financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis which contemplates the continuation of business activity and the 
realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business, however the Group requires further equity.  

the Group continues to seek opportunities for additional funding, through the issue of new equity, and the directors anticipate success 
in raising capital over the next 12 months. However, no firm plans or commitments exist at this time. the directors may also seek to 
realise funds from the sale of non-core assets.

For the reasons discussed above the directors are confident that the Group will be able to continue its operations into the foreseeable 
future. Should the Group be unsuccessful in raising equity, there is material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt as to whether 
the Group will continue as a going concern and therefore, whether it will realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal 
course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report.

(b) Basis of Preparation

Statement of compliance

the financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with australian accounting Standards 
(aaSBs) (including australian interpretations) adopted by the australian accounting Standards Board (aaSB) and the Corporations 
act 2001.  the consolidated financial report of the Group comply with international Financial reporting Standards (iFrSs) and 
interpretations adopted by the international accounting Standards Board (iaSB).

Basis of measurement

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following material items in the 
statement of financial position:

i. derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value

ii. financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value

iii. available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value
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1. stAteMeNt of siGNificANt AccouNtiNG Policies (coNtiNueD)

(b) Basis of Preparation (continued)

australian accounting Standards and interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective have not 
been adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2010.  these are outlined in the table below:

Reference title summary Application 
date of 

standard

impact on Group 
financial report

Application 
date for 
Group

aaSB  
2009-5

Further 
amendments 
to australian 
accounting 
Standards arising 
from the annual 
improvements 
project [aaSB 5, 8, 
101, 107, 117, 118, 
136 & 139]

the amendments to some Standards 
result in accounting changes 
for presentation, recognition or 
measurement purposes, while some 
amendments that relate to terminology 
and editorial changes are expected to 
have no or minimal effect on accounting 
except for the following: 

the amendment to aaSB 101 stipulates 
that the terms of a liability that could 
result, at anytime, in its settlement by 
the issuance of equity instruments at the 
option of the counterparty do not affect 
its classification.

the amendment to aaSB 107 explicitly 
states that only expenditure that results 
in a recognised asset can be classified as 
a cash flow from investing activities.

the amendment to aaSB 136 clarifies 
that the largest unit permitted for 
allocating goodwill acquired in a 
business combination is the operating 
segment, as defined in iFrS 8 before 
aggregation for reporting purposes.

the other changes clarify the scope 
exemption for business combination 
contracts and provide clarification  
in relation to accounting for cash  
flow hedges.

1 January  
2010

these 
amendments 
are not expected 
to have any 
significant 
impact on the 
Company’s 
financial report.

1 July 
2010

aaSB 
2009-8

amendments 
to australian 
accounting 
Standards – Group 
Cash-settled Share-
based payment 
transactions  
[aaSB 2]

this Standard makes amendments to 
australian accounting Standard aaSB 
2 Share-based Payment and supersedes 
interpretation 8 Scope of AASB 2 and 
interpretation 11 AASB 2 – Group and 
Treasury Share Transactions.

the amendments clarify the accounting 
for group cash-settled share-based 
payment transactions in the separate or 
individual financial statements of  
the entity receiving the goods or  
services when the entity has no 
obligation to settle the share-based 
payment transaction.

the amendments clarify the scope of 
aaSB 2 by requiring an entity that 
receives goods or services in a share-
based payment arrangement to account 
for those goods or services no matter 
which entity in the group settles the 
transaction, and no matter whether the 
transaction is settled in shares or cash.

1 January 
2010

these 
amendments 
are not expected 
to have any 
significant 
impact on the 
Company’s 
financial report.

1 July 
2010
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Reference title summary Application 
date of 

standard

impact on Group 
financial report

Application 
date for 
Group

aaSB 
2009-9

amendments 
to iFrS 1 First-
time Adoption 
of International 
Financial Reporting 
Standards.

the amendments address the 
retrospective application of iFrSs to 
particular situations and are aimed at 
ensuring that entities applying iFrSs 
will not face undue cost or effort in the 
transition process.

Specifically, the amendments:

•	exempt	entities	using	the	full	cost	
method from retrospective application 
of iFrSs for oil and gas assets

•	exempt	entities	with	existing	leasing	
contracts from reassessing the 
classification of those contracts in 
accordance with iFriC 4 Determining 
whether an Arrangement contains a 
Lease when the application of their 
national accounting requirements 
produced the same result.

1 January 
2010

these 
amendments 
are not expected 
to have any 
significant 
impact on the 
Company’s 
financial report.

1 July 
2010

aaSB 
2009-10

amendments 
to australian 
accounting 
Standards – 
Classification of 
rights issues [aaSB 
132]

the amendment provides relief to 
entities that issue rights in a currency 
other than their functional currency, 
from treating the rights as derivatives 
with fair value changes recorded in 
profit or loss.  Such rights will now be 
classified as equity instruments when 
certain conditions are met.

1 February 
2010

these 
amendments 
are not expected 
to have any 
significant 
impact on the 
Company’s 
financial report.

1 July 
2010

aaSB 
2009-11

amendments 
to australian 
accounting 
Standards arising 
from aaSB 9 [aaSB 
1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 
102, 108, 112, 118, 
121, 127, 128, 131, 
132, 136, 139, 
1023 & 1038 and 
interpretations 10 
& 12]

the revised Standard introduces a 
number of changes to the accounting 
for financial assets, the most significant 
of which includes:

•	two	categories	for	financial	assets	
being amortised cost or fair value.

•	removal	of	the	requirement	to	
separate embedded derivatives in 
financial assets

•	strict	requirements	to	determine	which	
financial assets can be classified as 
amortised cost or fair value. Financial 
assets can only be classified as 
amortised cost if (a) the contractual 
cash flows from the instrument 
represent principal and interest and 
(b) the entity’s purpose for holding the 
instrument is to collect the contractual 
cash flows.

•	an	option	for	investments	in	equity	
instruments which are not held for 
trading to recognise fair value changes 
through other comprehensive income 
with no impairment testing and no 
recycling through profit or loss on 
derecognition.

•	reclassifications	between	amortised	
cost and fair value no longer permitted 
unless the entity’s business model for 
holding the asset changes.

•	changes	to	the	accounting	and	
additional disclosures for equity 
instruments classified as fair value 
through other comprehensive income.

1 January 
2013

these 
amendments 
are not expected 
to have any 
significant 
impact on the 
Company’s 
financial report.

1 July 
2013
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1. stAteMeNt of siGNificANt AccouNtiNG Policies (coNtiNueD)

(b) Basis of Preparation (continued)

Reference title summary Application 
date of 

standard

impact on Group 
financial report

Application 
date for 
Group

aaSB 
2009-12 

amendments 
to australian 
accounting 
Standards [aaSBs 
5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 
119, 133, 137, 139, 
1023 & 1031 and 
interpretations 2, 
4,16, 1039 &1052}]

this amendment makes numerous 
editorial changes to a range of 
australian accounting Standards and 
interpretations.

the amendment to aaSB 124 clarifies 
and simplifies the definition of a related 
party as well as providing some relief for 
government-related entities (as defined 
in the amended standard) to disclose 
details of all transactions with other 
government-related entities (as well as 
with the government itself).

1 January 
2011

these 
amendments 
are not expected 
to have any 
significant 
impact on the 
Company’s 
financial report.

1 July 
2011

aaSB 
2009-13

amendments 
to australian 
accounting 
Standards arising 
from interpretation 
19 [aaSB 1]

this amendment to aaSB 1 allows 
a first-time adopter may apply the 
transitional provisions in interpretation 
19 as identified in aaSB 1048.

1 July 2010 these 
amendments 
are not expected 
to have any 
significant 
impact on the 
Company’s 
financial report.

1 July 
2010

aaSB 
2008-6

Further 
amendments 
to australian 
accounting 
Standards arising 
from the annual 
improvements 
project

this was the second omnibus of 
amendments issued by the iaSB arising 
from the annual improvements project.

1 July 2009 the Group 
has not yet 
determined the 
extent of the 
impact of the 
amendments, if 
any.

1 July 
2010

aaSB 
2009-14

amendments 
to australian 
interpretation – 
prepayments of a 
Minimum Funding 
requirement

these amendments arise from the 
issuance of prepayments of a Minimum 
Funding requirement (amendments 
to iFriC 14). the requirements of 
iFriC 14 meant that some entities that 
were subject to minimum funding 
requirements could not treat any surplus 
in a defined benefit pension plan as an 
economic benefit.  

the amendment requires entities to treat 
the benefit of such an early payment 
as a pension asset. Subsequently, the 
remaining surplus in the plan, if any, 
is subject to the same analysis as if no 
prepayment had been made.

1 January 
2011

these 
amendments 
are not expected 
to have any 
significant 
impact on the 
Company’s 
financial report.

1 July 
2011

interpret 
-ation 19

interpretation 
19 extinguishing 
Financial Liabilities 
with equity 
instruments

this interpretation clarifies that equity 
instruments issued to a creditor to 
extinguish a financial liability are 
“consideration paid” in accordance with 
paragraph 41 of iaS 39. as a result, the 
financial liability is derecognised and the 
equity instruments issued are treated 
as consideration paid to extinguish that 
financial liability. 

the interpretation states that equity 
instruments issued in a debt for equity 
swap should be measured at the fair 
value of the equity instruments issued, 
if this can be determined reliably. if 
the fair value of the equity instruments 
issued is not reliably determinable, the 
equity instruments should be measured 
by reference to the fair value of the 
financial liability extinguished as of the 
date of extinguishment.

1 July 2010 these 
amendments 
are not expected 
to have any 
significant 
impact on the 
Company’s 
financial report.

1 July 
2010
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Reference title summary Application 
date of 

standard

impact on Group 
financial report

Application 
date for 
Group

aaSB 
2010-4

amendments 
to australian 
accounting 
Standards arising 
from the annual 
improvements 
project [aaSB 1, 
aaSB 7, aaSB 101, 
aaSB 134 and 
interpretation 13] 

emphasises the interaction between 
quantitative and quality aaSB 7 
disclosures and the nature and extent 
of risks associated with financial 
instruments.

Clarifies that an entity will present an 
analysis of other comprehensive income 
for each component of equity, either in 
the statement of changes in equity or 
the notes to the financial statements.

provides guidance to illustrate how to 
apply disclosure principals in aaSB 134 
for significant events and transactions.

Clarifies that when the fair value of 
award credits is measured based on the 
value of the award for which they could 
be redeemed, the amount of discounts 
or other incentives otherwise granted to 
customers not participating in the award 
credit scheme, is to be taken into account

1 January 
2013

the Group 
has not yet 
determined the 
extent of the 
impact of the 
amendments,  
if any.

1 July 
2013

aaSB 
2010-3

amendments 
to australian 
accounting 
Standards arising 
from the annual 
improvements 
project [aaSB 3, 
aaSB 7, aaSB 121, 
aaSB 128, aaSB 
131, aaSB 132 and 
aaSB 139]

Limits the scope of the measurement 
choices of non-controlling interest at 
proportionate share of net assets in the 
vent of liquidation. other components 
of NCi are measured at fair value.

requires an entity (in a business 
combination), to account for the 
replacement of the acquiree’s share-
cased payment transactions (whether 
obliged or voluntary) ie. Split between 
consideration and post combination 
expenses.

Clarifies that contingent consideration 
from a business combination that 
occurred before the effective date of 
aaSB revised is not restated.

eliminates the requirements to restate 
financial statements for a reporting 
period when significant influence or 
joint control is lost and the reporting 
entity accounts for the remaining 
investment under aaSB 139. this 
includes the effect on accumulated 
foreign exchange differences on such 
investments.

1 July 2010 the Group 
has not yet 
determined the 
extent of the 
impact of the 
amendments, if 
any.

1 July 
2010

(c) Principles of consolidation

the consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of indo Mines Limited (“Company” or 
“parent entity”) as at 30 June 2010 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended.  indo Mines Limited and its subsidiaries 
together are referred to as the Group or the Consolidated entity.

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights.  the existence and potential 
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls 
another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  they are de-consolidated from the date 
that control ceases.

intercompany transactions and balances, and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies, are eliminated.  unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred.  accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(i) Business combinations

Change in accounting policy

the Group has adopted revised aaSB 3 Business Combinations (2008) and amended aaSB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements (2008) for business combinations occurring in the financial year starting 1 July 2009.  all business combinations occurring 
on or after 1 July 2009 are accounted for by applying the acquisition method.  the change in accounting policy is applied prospectively 
and had no material impact on earnings per share.
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1. stAteMeNt of siGNificANt AccouNtiNG Policies (coNtiNueD)

(c) Principles of consolidation (continued)

(i) Business combinations

For every business combination, the Group identifies the acquirer, which is the combining entity that obtains control of the other 
combining entities or businesses. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities.  in assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights that currently are exercisable. 
the acquisition date is the date on which control is transferred to the acquirer. Judgement is applied in determining the acquisition date 
and determining whether control is transferred from one party to another.

Measuring goodwill 

the Group measures goodwill as the fair value of the consideration transferred including the recognised amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree, less the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, 
all measured as of the acquisition date. 

Consideration transferred includes the fair values of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred by the Group to the previous owners 
of the acquiree, and equity interests issued by the Group. Consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent 
consideration and share-based payment awards of the acquiree that are replaced mandatorily in the business combination (see below).  
if a business combination results in the termination of pre-existing relationships between the Group and the acquiree, then the lower 
of the termination amount, as contained in the agreement, and the value of the off-market element is deducted from the consideration 
transferred and recognised in other expenses.

Share-based payment awards

When share-based payment awards exchanged (replacement awards) for awards held by the acquiree’s employees (acquiree’s awards) 
relate to past services, then a part of the market-based measure of the awards replaced is included in the consideration transferred.  
if they require future services, then the difference between the amount included in consideration transferred and the market-based 
measure of the replacement awards is treated as post-combination compensation cost. 

Contingent liabilities

a contingent liability of the acquiree is assumed in a business combination only if such a liability represents a present obligation and 
arises from a past event, and its fair value can be measured reliably. 

Non-controlling interest

the Group measures any non-controlling interest at its proportionate interest in the identifiable net assets of the acquiree.

Transaction costs

transaction costs that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination, such as finder’s fees, legal fees, due diligence fees, 
and other professional and consulting fees, are expensed as incurred.

(d) Presentation of financial statements

the Group applies revised aaSB 101 presentation of Financial Statements (2007), which became effective as of 1 January 2009.   
as a result, the Group presents in the consolidated statement of changes in equity all owner changes in equity, whereas all non-owner 
changes in equity are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Comparative information has been re-presented so that it also is in conformity with the revised standard. Since the change in accounting 
policy only impacts presentation aspects, there is no impact on earnings per share.

(e) exploration and evaluation expenditure 

exploration and evaluation expenditure encompasses expenditures incurred by the Group in connection with the exploration  
for and evaluation of mineral resources before the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource  
are demonstrable. 

exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred by the Group is accumulated for each area of interest and recorded as an asset if:

(i) the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and 

(ii) at least one of the following conditions is also met: 

(1) the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of 
the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; and/or

(2) exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date reached a stage which permits a 
reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations 
in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing.

For each area of interest, expenditure incurred in the acquisition of rights to explore is capitalised, classified as tangible or intangible, and 
recognised as an exploration and evaluation asset.  exploration and evaluation assets are measured at cost at recognition.  exploration 
and evaluation expenditure incurred by the Group subsequent to acquisition of the rights to explore is expensed as incurred, up to costs 
associated with the preparation of a feasibility study.

Capitalised exploration costs are reviewed each reporting date to establish whether an indication of impairment exists.  if any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the capitalised exploration costs is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment 
loss (if any).  Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of 
its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in previous years.

Where a decision is made to proceed with development, accumulated expenditure is tested for impairment and transferred to 
development properties, and then amortised over the life of the reserves associated with the area of interest once mining operations 
have commenced.

recoverability of the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on successful development and commercial 
exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas of interest.
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(f) Mining rights and ammortisation

Other intangible assets

Mining rights and other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it 
relates.  all other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred.

Amortisation

amortisation is calculated over the cost of the asset, or another amount substituted for cost, less its residual value.

amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, other than 
goodwill, from the date that they are available for use, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset.  

amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.

(g) Revenue Recognition

revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  all revenue is stated net of the amount of goods 
and services tax (GSt).

(h) income tax

the income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the national 
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.

deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the assets are 
recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted for each jurisdiction.  the 
relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax 
asset or liability.  an exception is made for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability.  No 
deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose in a transaction, other than a business 
combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.

deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable 
amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of 
investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and 
it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in equity.

indo Mines Limited and its wholly-owned australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax consolidated group under the tax 
consolidation regime.  each entity in the group recognises its own current and deferred tax liabilities, except for any deferred tax 
liabilities resulting from unused tax losses and tax credits, which are immediately assumed by the Company.  the current tax liability of 
each group entity is then subsequently assumed by the Company.  the group notified the australian tax office that it had formed an 
income tax consolidated group from 1 July 2008.  

(i) impairment of Non-financial Assets

assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.  assets that are subject 
to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable.  an impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount.  the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units).

(j) cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet. 

(k) trade Receivables

trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost less an allowance for doubtful 
debts.  trade receivables are due for settlement no more than 30 days from the date of recognition.  an estimate of doubtful debts is 
made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable.  Bad debts are written off as incurred.F
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1. stAteMeNt of siGNificANt AccouNtiNG Policies (coNtiNueD)

(l) Property, Plant and equipment

plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation.  Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items.  

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.   
all other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

plant and equipment are depreciated or amortised on a reducing balance or straight line basis at rates based upon their expected 
useful lives as follows:

life
plant and equipment 2 - 40 years

the assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.  

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.  these are included in the income statement. 

(m) fair value estimation

the fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and available-for-sale 
securities) is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date.  the quoted market price used for financial assets held by the 
Group is the current bid price; the appropriate quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current ask price.

the fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over the counter derivatives) is determined 
using valuation techniques.  the Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing 
at each balance date.  Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt instruments held.  
other techniques, such as discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.  the fair 
value of interest-rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows.  the fair value of forward exchange 
contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates at the balance sheet date.

(n) investments and other financial Assets

the Group classifies its investments in the following categories:  financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial assets.  the classification depends on the purpose for which 
the investments were acquired.  Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this 
designation at each reporting date.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading.  a financial asset is classified in this category 
if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.  derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are 
designated as hedges.  assets in this category are classified as current assets.

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  
they arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of selling the receivable.  they are 
included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than twelve months after the balance sheet date which are classified 
as non-current assets.  Loans and receivables are included in other financial assets in the balance sheet.

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the 
Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets

available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either designated in 
this category or not classified in any of the other categories.  they are included in non-current assets unless management intends to 
dispose of the investment within twelve months of the balance sheet date.

purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade-date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.  
investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit 
or loss.  Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been 
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, investments in 
associates are accounted for under the equity method in the consolidated financial statements and the cost method in the company 
financial statements.

available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value.  Loans 
and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  realised and 
unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category 
are included in the income statement in the period in which they arise.  unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair 
value of non-monetary securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in equity in the available-for-sale investments revaluation 
reserve.  When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments are included in the 
income statement as gains and losses from investment securities.

the fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices.  if the market for a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted 
securities), the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.  these include reference to the fair values of recent arm’s 
length transactions, involving the same instruments or other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, 
and option pricing models. 
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the Group assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is 
impaired.  in the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a security 
below its cost is considered in determining whether the security is impaired.  if any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial 
assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment 
loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit and loss – is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement.  
impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement.

(o) trade and other Payables

Liabilities for trade creditors and other amounts are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future 
for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the consolidated entity.  the amounts are unsecured and are usually paid 
within 30 days.

payables to related parties are carried at the principal amount.

(p)  employee Benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within twelve months of the 
reporting date are recognised in provisions in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken 
and measured at the rates paid or payable. employee benefits payable later than one year are measured at the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows to be made for those benefits.

(q) issued capital

ordinary shares are classified as equity. issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the 
Company.

incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds.  

(r) Dividends

provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared on or before the end of the year but not distributed at balance date.

(s) earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit/loss attributable to equity holders of the Company, excluding any costs of 
servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted 
for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings/loss per share to take into account the after 
tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of 
shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(t) share-Based Payments

the grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a 
corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to the awards.  the amount 
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market vesting conditions 
are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number of awards that do not meet 
the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date.  For share-based payment awards with non-vesting 
conditions, the grant date fair value of the share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for 
differences between expected and actual outcomes.

Share-based payment arrangements in which the Group receives goods or services as consideration for its own equity instruments 
are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions, regardless of how the equity instruments are obtained by  
the Group.

(u) Goods and services tax

revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GSt except:

•	 where the GSt incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the 
GSt is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

•	 receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GSt included.

the net amount of GSt recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the 
balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis and the GSt component of cash flows arising from investing and 
financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows.

(v) segment Reporting

Determination and presentation of operating segments

as of 1 July 2009 the Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that internally is provided to the 
Ceo, who is the Group’s chief operating decision maker.  this change in accounting policy is due to the adoption of aaSB 8 operating 
Segments.  previously operating segments were determined and presented in accordance with aaSB 114 Segment reporting.   
the new accounting policy in respect of segment operating disclosures is presented as follows.  

Comparative segment information has been re-presented in conformity with the transitional requirements of such standard.  Since the 
change in accounting policy only impacts presentation and disclosure aspects, there is no impact on earnings per share.
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1. stAteMeNt of siGNificANt AccouNtiNG Policies (coNtiNueD) 

(v) segment Reporting (continued)

an operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components.  all operating 
segments’ operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s Ceo to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the 
segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported to the Ceo include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on 
a reasonable basis.  unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily the Company’s headquarters), head office expenses, 
and income tax assets and liabilities.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets 
other than goodwill.

(w) finance income and finance costs

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested (including available-for-sale financial assets), dividend income, gains on 
the disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and 
gains on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss.  interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using 
the effective interest method.  dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is 
established, which in the case of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date. 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, dividends on preference shares 
classified as liabilities, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, impairment losses recognised 
on financial assets, and losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss.  Borrowing costs that are not directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss using the effective 
interest method.  

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

(x) foreign currency 

Both the functional and presentation currency of indo Mines Limited at 30 June 2010 was australian dollars. the following table sets 
out the functional currency of the subsidiary (unless dormant) of the Group:

company Name functional currency
pt Jogja Magasa iron indonesian rupiah

each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are 
measured using that functional currency. transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the 
exchange rates ruling at the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.

all exchange differences in the consolidated financial report are taken to the income statement with the exception of differences in 
foreign currency borrowings that provide a hedge against a net investment in a foreign entity.  these are taken directly to equity until 
the disposal of the net investment, at which time they are recognised in the income statement. tax charges and tax credits attributable 
to exchange differences on those borrowings are also recognised in equity.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at 
the date of the initial transaction.  Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Where the functional currency of a subsidiary of indo Mines Limited is not australian dollars the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary 
at reporting date are translated into the presentation currency of indo Mines at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date 
and the income statements are translated by applying the average exchange rate for the year.

any exchange differences arising on this retranslation are taken directly to a separate component of equity.

on disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity and relating to that particular foreign operation 
is recognised in the income Statement.
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(y) impairment of financial assets (including receivables)

a financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective 
evidence that it is impaired.  a financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be 
estimated reliably.

objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, 
restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or 
issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security. in addition, for an investment in an equity security, a 
significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment. 

the Group considers evidence of impairment for receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities at both a specific asset and 
collective level. all individually significant receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities are assessed for specific impairment. all 
individually significant receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively 
assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities 
that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together receivables and held-to-maturity 
investment securities with similar risk characteristics. 

in assessing collective impairment the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, timing of recoveries and the amount 
of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual 
losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends. 

an impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying 
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses are 
recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against receivables. interest on the impaired asset continues to be 
recognised through the unwinding of the discount. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the 
decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. 

impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognised by transferring the cumulative loss that has been recognised 
in other comprehensive income, and presented in the fair value reserve in equity, to profit or loss. the cumulative loss that is removed 
from other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal 
repayment and amortisation, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss. Changes in 
impairment provisions attributable to time value are reflected as a component of interest income.

if, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security increases and the increase can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, then the impairment loss is reversed, with 
the amount of the reversal recognised in profit or loss. However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-
sale equity security is recognised in other comprehensive income.

(z) compound financial instruments

Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise convertible notes that can be converted to share capital at the option 
of the holder, and the number of shares to be issued does not vary with changes in their fair value. 

the liability component of a compound financial instrument is recognised initially at the fair value of a similar liability that does not 
have an equity conversion option.  

the conversion component is recognised at fair value as a liability.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial instrument is measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. the conversion component is measured at fair value through profit and loss.

interest, dividends, losses and gains relating to the financial liability are recognised in profit or loss.  distributions to the equity holders 
are recognised against equity, net of any tax benefit.
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2010
$

2009
$

2. PRofit/(loss) fRoM oPeRAtioNs

(a) Profit/(loss) before tax

Profit/(loss) before income tax has been arrived at after charging the following expenses 
attributable to continuing operations:

exploration, evaluation and development expenditure
impairment losses on exploration and evaluation assets 40,617 2,874
impairment of pre-acquisition loan to Fireside resources to fund exploration and 
development activities 3,209,335 -
Share based payments expense - 447,142
depreciation – plant and equipment 7,956 25,866
exploration expenditure 2,525,041 531,542

5,782,949 1,007,424

Business development expenses
project evaluation expenses 151,843 117,108

151,843 117,108

Administration expenses
depreciation – plant and equipment 17,184 21,138
property expenses 139,440 124,072
Corporate expenses 606,239 301,073
audit expenses 52,198 47,088
employee benefits expense 87,071 210,875
other expenses 53,677 142,760

955,809 847,006

(b) financial income/(expenses)

interest revenue 73,114 42,103
unrealised foreign exchange gain 499,578 37,865
other finance income 30,095 -
Finance income 602,787 79,968

Borrowing costs (26,083) (453,714)
interest expense (434,928) (343)
Bank charges (6,875) (6,910)
Fair value adjustment of convertible debenture option(ii) (1,841,121) -
Share based payments funding costs(i) (7,800,000) -
Loss on disposal of other financial assets - (55,327)
Finance cost (10,109,007) (516,294)
Net finance (expense)/income (9,506,220) (436,326)

Notes.

(i) an amount of $7,800,000 was expensed during the current financial year relating to share based payments funding costs as 
part of the acquisition of Fireside resources Ltd. refer Note 29 for full details.

(ii) expense relates to a fair value adjustment of option component of convertible note from anglo pacific Group. refer Note 15 for 
further details. 
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2010
$

2009
$

3. iNcoMe tAx 
(a) Recognised in the income statement
Current income tax:  
  Current income tax expense/(benefit) - -
  adjustments in relation to current income tax 
  of previous years - 25,111
Deferred income tax:
  adjustments in respect of deferred income tax  of previous years 216,991 56,671
  origination and reversal of temporary differences (2,127,758) (1,249,908)
  deferred tax assets not previously brought to account - -

deferred tax assets not brought to account 1,910,767 1,276,744
income tax expense reported in the income statement   - 108,618

(b) Recognised directly in equity
deferred income tax related to items charged or credited directly to equity
available-for-sale financial assets 6,278 (254,513)
deferred tax assets used to offset deferred tax liabilities (6,278) (7,695)
income tax expense/(benefit) reported in equity - (262,208)

 (c) Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable
profit/(loss) from continuing operations before income tax (27,664,771) (7,052,864)
tax at the australian tax rate of 30% (2009: 30%) (8,299,431) (2,115,860)
tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/ (taxable) in calculating taxable income:
   entertainment 71 181
   income not assessable for income tax purposes (194,873) -
   Fair value adjustment of convertible debenture 552,336 -
   provision for impairment 3,388,118 369,000
   Sundry items 86,021 173,627
   Share-based payments 2,340,000 134,143
   transfer of unrealised losses from equity - 189,000
   adjustments in relation to current income tax of previous years 216,991 81,783

(1,910,767) (1,168,126)
income tax benefit not recognised 1,910,767 1,276,744
income tax expense - 108,618

(d) tax losses not brought to account
unused tax losses and temporary differences for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised 6,369,223 4,255,817
potential tax benefit @ 30% (2009: 30%) 1,910,767 1,276,745

(e) tax consolidation

indo Mines Limited and its wholly-owned australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax consolidated group under the tax 
consolidation regime.  each entity in the group recognises its own current and deferred tax liabilities, except for any deferred tax 
liabilities resulting from unused tax losses and tax credits, which are immediately assumed by the Company.  the current tax liability of 
each group entity is then subsequently assumed by the Company.  the group notified the australian tax office that it had formed an 
income tax consolidated group from 1 July 2008.  
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3. iNcoMe tAx (coNtiNueD)
(f) Deferred income tax 

deferred income tax relates to the following:

deferred tax liabilities
  accrued interest revenue - 850
  available-for-sale investments 13,973 7,695
  deferred tax assets used to offset deferred tax liabilities (13,973) (8,545)

- -
deferred tax assets
  Share issue costs - -
  provisions 1,172 1,547
  accrued expenses 18,750 16,500
  other financial assets - -
  available-for-sale investments - 774,000
  Capital loss on sale of investments - 78,098
  deferred tax assets used to offset deferred tax liabilities (13,973) (8,545)
  tax losses available to offset against future taxable income 2,089,073 407,450
  deferred tax assets not brought to account (2,095,022) (1,269,050)

- -

Note

the benefit of deferred tax assets not brought to account will only be brought to account if:-

(a) future assessable income is derived of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit to be realised;

(b) the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation continue to be complied with; and

(c) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Company in realising the benefit.

4.  cuRReNt Assets – tRADe AND otheR ReceivABles    

interest receivable - 2,835
GSt receivable 104,505 47,930
Sundry debtors 56,521 17,950

161,026 68,715

5. cuRReNt Assets – PRePAyMeNts    

Coal royalty prepayment 2,181,245 -
2,181,245 -

this amount relates to a pre payment of royalties in respect to coal acquisition rights for the Mangkok Coal project. 

6. cuRReNt Assets – otheR fiNANciAl Assets      
 

available-for-sale financial assets at fair value:

Shares – listed 58,050 1,597,125
58,050 1,597,125

available-for-sale financial assets comprise investments in listed ordinary shares.   

7. NoN-cuRReNt Assets – PRoPeRty, PlANt AND eQuiPMeNt

(a) Plant and equipment     

Cost 750,118 627,765
accumulated depreciation and impairment (140,093) (190,226)
Net carrying amount 610,025 437,539
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2010
$

2009
$

(b) Reconciliation     

Carrying amount at beginning of year, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment 437,539 42,902
additions 199,581 469,761
exchange differences - (28,120)
impairment (1,954) -
depreciation charge for the year (25,141) (47,004)

Carrying amount at end of year, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment 610,025 437,539

8. NoN-cuRReNt Assets – exPloRAtioN AND evAluAtioN Assets

the Company has mineral exploration costs carried forward in respect of the following areas of interest:

(a) Areas of interest:
Indonesia
   Jogjakarta iron Sands Mining right 25,783,297 23,507,512

25,783,297 -

(b) Reconciliation

Carrying amount at beginning of year 23,507,512 21,798,342
deferred exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred 2,567,091 2,022,884
adjustment to parent entity share of recognised exploration, evaluation and  
development expenditure 

(250,690) (310,840)

impairment (40,617) (2,874)

carrying amount at end of year, at cost 25,783,296 23,507,512

the ultimate recoupment of the above deferred exploration, evaluation and development expenditure is dependent upon the successful 
development and commercial exploitation or, alternatively, sale of the respective areas of interest.  all of the above expenditure relates 
to exploration and evaluation phases.

during the year the Group has expended funds totaling $2,567,091 (2009: $2,022,884) capitalised as exploration costs. during the 
year ended 30 June 2009, the Company increased its interest in the Jogjakarta pig iron project through its 70% ownership of an 
indonesian registered company, pt Jogja Magasa iron, which was granted the Contract of Works.

9. NoN-cuRReNt Assets – MiNiNG RiGhts AcQuisitioN AND DeveloPMeNt costs

the Company has mineral exploration costs carried forward in respect of the following areas of interest:       

2010
$

2009
$

(a) Areas of interest:
Indonesia
   Mangkok Coal Mining right 6,718,988 -
Carrying amount at end of year, at cost 6,718,988 -

during the year, the Company acquired Fireside resources. Full details of the transaction and allocation of consideration between 
exploration and evaluation assets and mining rights and development costs are outlined in Note 29(d).

the ultimate recoupment of the above mining asset is dependent upon the successful development and commercial exploitation or, 
alternatively, sale of the Mangkok Mining rights.

10. cuRReNt liABilities – tRADe AND otheR PAyABles

trade creditors 283,851 510,598
accrued expenses 159,291 135,353
other payables 256,171 38,966

699,313 684,917

11. cuRReNt liABilities – DefeRReD iNcoMe    

advance coal sale 1,867,632 -

this amount relates to the funds received pursuant to a uS$3.6 million prepayment towards the purchase of 300,000 tonnes of coal. 
as at 30 June 2010, an amount of uS$1.6 million of the uS$3.6 million had been received as funding to development the Mangkok 
Mining right.  
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2010
$

2009
$

12. cuRReNt liABilities – cuRReNt tAx liABilities    

income tax payable - 961,769

13. cuRReNt liABilities – PRovisioNs   

employee benefits 3,907 5,158

(a)  Movement in provisions
opening balance 5,158 24,150
amounts paid to employees (13,359) (27,778)
additional provisions 12,108 8,786
Closing balance 3,907 5,158

14. cuRReNt liABilities – BoRRowiNGs  
Secured debenture – anglo pacific Group plc - 5,000,000
unrealised foreign exchange gain - (28,153)
Carrying amount at end of year, at cost - 4,971,847

during the financial year ended 30 June 2009, the Company entered into a uS$4 million convertible debenture facility (“the Facility”) 
with anglo pacific Group pLC (“anglo pacific”). the funds from this Facility will be used for continuation of the Feasibility Study works, 
including environmental and social studies, metallurgical testing, infrastructure planning and marketing research in respect of the 
Jogjakarta iron project (“the project”). Completion of the Facility occurred during the year ended 30 June 2010 following shareholders’ 
approval at meeting on 28 october 2009. 

as the convertible debenture was still conditional on shareholders approval at 30 June 2009, the carrying amount of the financial 
instrument was classified as a current liability. Following the convertible debenture becoming unconditional on 28 october 2009, the 
instrument was a non-current liability.

15. NoN-cuRReNt liABilities – BoRRowiNGs      

Secured debenture – anglo pacific Group plc 4,971,847 -
unrealised foreign exchange gain (302,567) -

4,669,280

Fair value adjustment of option component through profit and loss 1,841,121
6,510,401 -

the material terms of the Facility are as follows:

i. the Company has agreed to grant a 2% net smelter royalty over its attributable portion of the liquid iron or iron sand concentrate 
sales produced through the Jogjakarta liquid iron plant until the Facility has been repaid, following which the royalty will reduce 
to 1% in perpetuity;

ii. repayment of the Facility is only through payment of the royalty with the principal amount of the Facility to be reduced by the 
amount of royalty payments (unless anglo pacific choose to convert the outstanding principal amount into common shares);

iii. a coupon rate of 8.0% p.a. is payable on the reducing outstanding principal each year;

iv. anglo pacific is entitled, at its option and at any time to convert any outstanding principal to Shares at a conversion price of 
a$0.50 per share;

v. if the principal amount of the Facility is converted to shares, rather than repaid, the royalty arrangement ceases;

vi. the Company under the Facility is required to provide security over the project and the entities holding the project.

the option component is classified as a financial liability and is measured at fair value through profit and loss. this has been 
independently valued using the Black Scholes option valuation methodology. the following table lists the inputs to the model used for 
the period ended 30 June 2010:

As at  
30 june 2010

exercise price $0.50
Share price on date of valuation $0.24
Volatility 105%
risk-free interest rate 5.00%
Valuation date 30 Jun 2010
expiry date 17 dec 2017
expected life of option (years) 7.51
Valuation per option $0.197

NoteS to aNd ForMiNG part oF tHe FiNaNCiaL StateMeNtS (CoNtiNued)
For tHe FiNaNCiaL year eNded 30 JuNe 2010
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2010
$

2009
$

16. issueD cAPitAl

(a)  issued and paid up capital:

163,196,646 (2009: 80,881,745) fully paid ordinary shares 56,561,253 34,000,429
75,000,000 (2009: nil) performance shares 10,050,000 -

66,611,253 34,000,429

(b)  Movements in ordinary share capital during the past two years were as follows:-

Date Details
Number of 

shares $

1 Jul 2008 opening Balance 80,731,745 33,959,299
22 June 2009 exercise of $0.20 options 150,000 30,000

transfer from option premium reserve - 12,450
Share issue expenses - (1,320)

30 june 2009 closing Balance 80,881,745 34,000,429

1 july 2009 opening Balance 80,881,745 34,000,429

3 august 2009 exercise of $0.20 options 250,000 50,000
transfer from option premium reserve - 20,750
Share issue expenses - (1,650)

18 February 2010 Share placement 12,000,000 3,000,000
Share issue expenses - (141,735)

26 February 2010 issue to iron project Vendors 5,000,000 1,450,000
Share issue expenses - (4,070)

30 March 2010 issue in lieu of interest 302,534 85,871
Share issue expenses - (1,650)

5 May 2010 exercise of $0.20 options 1,300,000 260,000
Share issue expenses - (2,398)

25 May 2010 issue to Fireside Vendors 20,000,000 6,000,000
Share issue expenses - (11,569)

26 May 2010 exercise of $0.20 options 8,400,000 1,680,000
Share issue expenses - (4,859)

11 June 2010 Conversion of Class B performance Shares to ordinary shares 20,000,000 6,000,000
Share issue expenses - (12,127)

11 June 2010 issue to Fireside Vendors 14,400,000 3,888,000
Share issue expenses (8,731)

30 June 2010 exercise of $0.20 options 300,000 60,000
Share issue expenses - (861)

26 May 2010 issue in lieu of interest 362,367 93,893
Share issue expenses - (1,040)

30 jun 2010 closing Balance 163,196,646 56,561,252

Holders of ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and in the event of winding up the Company, to participate 
in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of shares held and the amount paid up.  Shareholders 
are entitled to one vote per share held either in person or by proxy at a meeting of the Company.  

the Company also has issued share options (see Note 17(b)).
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16. issueD cAPitAl (coNtiNueD)  

(c) Movements in performance share capital during the past two years were as follows:-

Date Details Number $

1 jul 2008 opening Balance - -

1 july 2009 opening Balance - -
25 May 2010 issue of Class a performance Shares 20,000,000 4,800,000

issue of Class B performance Shares 20,000,000 6,000,000
issue of Class C performance Shares 15,000,000 2,250,000
issue of Class d and Class e performance Shares (1) 40,000,000 3,000,000

11 June 2010 Conversion of B Class performance Shares to ordinary shares (20,000,000) (6,000,000)
30 june 2010 closing Balance 75,000,000 10,050,000

(1) the Class d performance Shares and the Class e performance Shares are mutually exclusive and that if the Class d milestone is 
satisfied then the Class e milestone cannot be satisfied and vice versa. 

the milestones for conversion of the performance shares are outlined in Note 22.

2010
$

2009
$

17. ReseRves
(a) Reserves:
Share-based payments reserve
   2,000,000 (2009: nil) $0.20 Vendor options  
   exercisable on or before 1 october 2014 484,000 -
   1,000,000 (2009: nil) $1.00 Vendor options  
   exercisable on or before 1 March 2014 156,000 -
   nil (2009: 300,000) $0.20 unlisted options  
   exercisable on or before 31 July 2009 - 24,900
   nil (2009: 1,250,000) $0.35 incentive   
   options exercisable on or before 31 december 2009 - 1,327,500
   nil (2009: 1,250,000) $0.45 incentive 
   options exercisable on or before 30 June 2010 - 1,278,750
   1,500,000 (2009: 1,500,000) $0.75 unlisted options 
   exercisable on or before 31 december 2010 54,618 54,618
   nil (2009: 1,550,000) $0.90 unlisted options
   exercisable on or before 30 November 2009 - 826,968
   1,550,000 (2009: 1,550,000) $1.20 unlisted options
   exercisable on or before 30 November 2010 833,747 833,747
   10,000,000 (2009: 10,000,000) $0.20 unlisted
   options exercisable on or before 30 June 2010 - 163,000

1,528,365 4,509,483
Available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve
   Shares – listed 46,575 175,650

Foreign currency translation reserve (112,841) 1,987

total reserves 1,462,099 4,687,120

Share-based payments reserve

the share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of share-based payments made by the Company. 

Available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve

the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve is used to record fair value changes on available-for-sale investments.

Foreign currency translation reserve

exchange differences arising on translation of a foreign controlled entity are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve,  
as described in note 1(u).

NoteS to aNd ForMiNG part oF tHe FiNaNCiaL StateMeNtS (CoNtiNued)
For tHe FiNaNCiaL year eNded 30 JuNe 2010
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17.  ReseRves (coNtiNueD)

(c) terms and conditions of options

the options are granted based upon the following key terms and conditions:

•	 each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one Share upon exercise of each option.

•	 the options have exercise prices and expiry dates as follows:

o $0.75 options expire on 31 december 2010.

o $1.20 options expire on 30 November 2010.

o $0.20 options expire on 1 october 2014.

o $1.00 options expire on 1 March 2014. 

•	 the options are exercisable at any time prior to the expiry date, subject to vesting conditions.

•	 Shares issued on exercise of the options rank equally with the then shares of the Company.

•	 application will be made by the Company to aSX for official quotation of the Shares issued upon the exercise of the options.

•	 if there is any reconstruction of the issued share capital of the Company, the rights of the optionholders may be varied to comply 
with the aSX Listing rules which apply to the reconstruction at the time of the reconstruction.

•	 No application for quotation of the options will be made by the Company.

(d) Movements in available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve during the past two years were as follows:

2010
$

2009
$

opening Balance 175,650 (1,098,183)
Net valuation gain/(loss) on available-for-sale investments 20,925 (3,633,375)
Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets transferred to the income statement (150,000) -
Cumulative loss on available-for-sale financial assets transferred to the income statement - 4,645,000
deferred tax liability in respect of unrealised taxable gain - 262,208
closing Balance 46,575 175,650

18.  AccuMulAteD losses  

Balance at the beginning of year (16,004,914) (8,989,088)
transfer from reserves 3,437,367 -
Net loss attributable to owners (27,069,966) (7,015,826)

Balance at end of year (39,637,513) (16,004,914)

19.  MiNoRity iNteRests iN coNtRolleD eNtities 

interest in:
 - Share capital 107,438 483,217
-  reserves (48,361) 852
 - accumulated losses (740,461) (495,656)

(681,384) (11,587)

20. key MANAGeMeNt PeRsoNNel coMPeNsAtioN

(a) Details of key Management Personnel

Mr Christopher Catlow   Non-executive Chairman (appointed 25 May 2010)
Mr philip Welten  Managing director (resigned 20 May 2010)
dr derek Fisher  Non-executive director (appointed 25 May 2010)
Mr paul Kopejtka  Non-executive director (appointed 25 May 2010)
Mr darryl Harris  Non-executive director
Mr Keith Brooks  Non-executive director
Mr ian Middlemas   Non-executive director (resigned 22 June 2010)
Mr Shane Cranswick  Company Secretary (appointed 25 May 2010)
Mr Mark pearce  Company Secretary (resigned 25 May 2010)

there were no other key management personnel of the Group.

NoteS to aNd ForMiNG part oF tHe FiNaNCiaL StateMeNtS (CoNtiNued)
For tHe FiNaNCiaL year eNded 30 JuNe 2010
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(b) key Management Personnel compensation

Company and Consolidated:
2010

$
2009

$

Short-term employee benefits 282,523 294,224
post-employment benefits  24,077 25,129
termination benefits 84,099 -
other – Consulting fees 34,500 36,000
Share-based payments - 360,359
total compensation 425,199 715,712

Key management personnel disclosures previously required by aaSB 124 related party disclosures paragraphs aus25.2 to aus25.6  
and aus25.7.1 and aus25.7.2 and by Corporations regulations 2M.3.03 are included the remuneration report section of the 
directors’ report.

loans to key management personnel and their related parties

there were no loans made to key management personnel or their related parties during the reporting period.

other key management personnel transactions

apollo Group pty Ltd, a company of which Mr pearce is a director and beneficial shareholder, was paid $204,000 (2009: $198,000) 
during the year under a services contract for the provision of serviced office facilities and administration services.  the amount is based 
on a monthly retainer due and payable in arrears, with no fixed term. this item has been recognised as an expense in the income 
Statement. Mr pearce resigned as Company Secretary on 25 May 2010. the arrangement with apollo Group ceased effective 30 June 
2010. 

a payable of $17,000 arose from the above transactions at 30 June 2010 (2009:  $49,500). 

(c) employment contracts with key Management Personnel

Mr Martin Hacon, Managing director and Chief executive officer of the Company who commenced on 2 august 2010, has a contract 
of employment with indo Mines Limited which specifies the duties and obligations to be fulfilled by the Managing director and Ceo. 
the contract may be terminated by the Company by giving 3 months notice. No amount is payable in the event of termination for 
neglect or incompetence in regards to the performance of duties. Mr Hacon receives a fixed remuneration component of $450,000 
per annum inclusive of superannuation.

Subject to shareholder approval at the next general meeting of the Company, Mr Hacon is entitled to the following option package in 
accordance with his employment contract:

(i) 1,666,667 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 30 November 2011, vesting upon a volume weighted 
average shares price over 5 trading days of $0.40;

(ii) 1,666,667 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 31 december 2011, vesting upon a volume weighted 
average shares price over 5 trading days of $0.50;and

(iii) 1,666,666 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 30 June 2012, vesting upon a volume weighted average 
shares price over 5 trading days of $0.60.

Mr Shane Cranswick, Company Secretary and Chief Financial officer of the Group who commenced full time on 1 June 2010, has a 
contract of employment with indo Mines Limited which specifies the duties and obligations to be fulfilled by the Company Secretary 
and CFo. the contract may be terminated by the Company by giving 1 month notice. No amount is payable in the event of termination 
for neglect or incompetence in regards to the performance of duties. Mr Cranswick receives a fixed remuneration component of 
$225,000 per annum exclusive of superannuation.

in July 2010, Mr Cranswick was granted the following option package in accordance with his employment contract:

(i) 333,333 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 30 November 2011, vesting upon a volume weighted average 
shares price over 5 trading days of $0.40;

(ii) 333,334 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 31 december 2011, vesting upon a volume weighted average 
shares price over 5 trading days of $0.50;and

(iii) 333,334 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 30 June 2012, vesting upon a volume weighted average shares 
price over 5 trading days of $0.60.
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21. RelAteD PARty DisclosuRes (coNtiNueD)

(c) Performance share holdings and transactions of key Management Personnel

held at  
25 May 2010

Purchases/  
(sales)

Performance 
shares converted

options  
exercised

held at  
30 june 2010

Christopher Catlow 9,959,040(i) - (2,096,640)(iv) - 7,862,400
derek Fisher 14,566,155(ii) - (3,066,559)(iv) - 11,499,596
paul Kopejtka 421,995(iii) - (88,841)(iv) - 333,154

Note

(i) Held as at date of appointment – 25 May 2010. Consists of 2,096,640 Class a, 2,096,640 Class B,1,572,480 Class C, 2,096,640 
Class d and 2,096,640 Class e. Full terms of performance shares are detailed in Note 22.

(ii) Held as at date of appointment – 25 May 2010. Consists of 3,066,559 Class a, 3,066,559 Class B, 2,299,919 Class C, 3,066,559 
Class d and 3,066,559 Class e. Full terms of performance shares are detailed in Note 22.

(iii) Held as at date of appointment – 25 May 2010. Consists of 88,841 Class a, 88,841 Class B, 66,631 Class C, 88,841 Class d 
and 88,841 Class e. Full terms of performance shares are detailed in Note 22.

(iv) Conversion of class B performance Shares issued originally as consideration for the respective shareholdings in Fireside resources.  

22. shARe-BAseD PAyMeNts

the following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted average exercise prices (“Waep”) of, and movements in, share options 
issued during the year:

2010 2010 2009 2009
No. wAeP No. wAeP

outstanding at beginning of year 17,400,000 $0.43 15,050,000 $0.35
Granted during the year 3,000,000 $0.47 2,500,000 $0.87
expired during the year (4,100,000) $0.59 - -
exercised during the year (10,250,000) $0.20 (150,000) $0.20
outstanding at end of year 6,050,000 $0.72 17,400,000 $0.43

the outstanding balance as at 30 June 2010 is represented by:

•	 nil (2009: 300,000) unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.20 each that expire on 31 July 2009;

•	 nil (2009: 10,000,000) unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.20 each that expire on 30 June 2010;

•	 nil (2009: 1,250,000) incentive options with an exercise price of $0.35 each that vested on 22 January 2009 and expire on  
31 december 2009;

•	 nil (2009: 1,250,000) incentive options with an exercise price of $0.45 each that vested on 22 January 2009 and expire on  
30 June 2010;

•	 1,500,000 (2009: 1,500,000) unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.75 each that expire on 31 december 2010;

•	 nil (2009: 1,550,000) unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.90 each that expire on 30 November 2009; and

•	 1,550,000 (2009: 1,550,000) unlisted options with an exercise price of $1.20 each that expire on 30 November 2010.

•	 2,000,000 (2009: nil) vendor options with an exercise price of $0.20 each that expire on 1 october 2014;

•	 1,000,000 (2009: nil) vendor options with an exercise price of $1.00 each that vest on the date the Company delivers 500,000 
tonnes of coal and expire on 1 March 2014

the weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as at 30 June 2010 is 2.25 years (2009: 1 year).

the fair value of the equity-settled share options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using the Black Scholes option valuation 
model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.

Where applicable, the fair value is calculated at grant date and recognised over the period during which the incentive option holder 
becomes unconditionally entitled to the incentive options in accordance with aaSB 2 – Share-based payment. For the year ended 30 
June 2009, an amount of $360,359 (of a total valuation of $2,606,250) was included as a share based payment expense in the current 
period in relation to the 2,500,000 incentive options issued during the prior year. as the holder is unconditionally entitled to these 
incentive options, the total value of the options was fully expensed as at 30 June 2009. 
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the issue of options during the year related to part consideration for the acquisition of Fireside resources Limited. Full details of the 
transaction are outlined in Note 29(d). the following table lists the inputs to the model used for the period ended 30 June 2010:

$0.20 options  
1 oct 2014

$1.00 options  
1 Mar 2014

exercise price $0.20 $1.00
Share price on date of valuation $0.30 $0.30
dividend yield - -
Volatility 105% 105%
risk-free interest rate 5.03% 4.73%
Valuation date 21 May 2010 21 May 2010
expiry date 1 oct 2014 1 March 2014
expected life of option (years) 4.37 3.78
Fair value at grant date $0.242 $0.156

the following table lists the inputs to the model used for the period ended 30 June 2009:

$0.75 options  
30 jun 2010

$0.90 options  
30 Nov 2010

$1.20 options  
30 Nov 2010

exercise price $0.75 $0.90 $1.20
Share price on date of valuation $0.25 $0.35 $0.35
dividend yield - - -
Volatility 75% 75% 75%
risk-free interest rate 3.01% 4.00% 3.34%
Valuation date 16 dec 08 26 Nov 08 26 Nov 08
expiry date 31 dec 10 30 Nov 09 30 Nov 10
expected life of option (years) 2.041 1.011 2.011
Fair value at grant date $0.036 $0.022 $0.042

the dividend yield reflects the assumption that the current dividend payout will remain unchanged. the expected life of the options 
is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. the expected volatility reflects the 
assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

there was no share based payment expense for both employees and consultants for the year ended 30 June 2010 (2009: $447,142).

the following table illustrates the number of, and movements in, performance shares issued during the year:

2010 2009
No. No.

outstanding at beginning of year - -
Granted during the year 95,000,000 -
expired during the year - -
Converted during the year (20,000,000) -
outstanding at end of year 75,000,000 -
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22. shARe-BAseD PAyMeNts (coNtiNueD)

the performance Shares convert to ordinary shares on a 1 for 1 basis. the milestones for conversion of the performance shares are  
as follows:

class A Performance shares: the Company securing uS$10 million in unconditional funding for the additional funds required 
to complete the Feasibility Study for the Jogjakarta pig iron project by way of debt, equity or free 
cash flows from coal operations (or any combination thereof);

class B Performance shares: the Company:
a) making a decision to mine the BBpK (Mangkok) Coal project; and
b) procuring the funds required for the development, construction and operation of the BBpK 
(Mangkok) project by way of capital raising.

class c Performance shares: the production and sale by the Company of a total of 300,000 tonnes of coal from the BBpK 
(Mangkok) Coal project or any other coal project.

class D Performance shares: either  
a) the Company executing an unconditionally legally binding agreement with a strategic partner to 
substantially assist in both the development and financing of the Jogjakarta pig iron project and:

(i) Making a decision to mine the Jogjakarta pig iron project; and
(ii) the strategic partner procuring unconditional funding for at least 40% of the funds       
      required for the development, construction and operation of the Jogjakarta pig iron project;  
     or

b) the completion of the Feasibility Study for the Jogjakarta pig iron project and the Company. 
acting reasonably, would have made a decision to mine but has sold or otherwise disposed of all 
of its interest in the Jogjakarta pig iron project.

class e Performance shares: the
a) completion of the Feasibility Study for the Jogjakarta pig iron project and the Company not 
making a decision to Mine; and
b) production and sale by the Company of a total of 1,000,000 tonnes of coal from the BBpK 
(Mangkok) Coal project or any other coal project

the Class d performance Shares and the Class e performance Shares are mutually exclusive and that if the Class d milestone is satisfied 
then the Class e milestone cannot be satisfied and vice versa. 

the fair value of the performance shares is based on an independent valuation on the maximum number of performance shares 
issued multiplied by the prevailing share price as at the date of issue of the performance shares multiplied by the probability that the 
performance milestones (as outlined above) are achieved. 

the following table lists the inputs to the model used for the period ended 30 June 2010:

class A  
Performance shares

class B  
Performance shares

class c  
Performance shares

class D & e  
Performance shares

Share price on date of valuation $0.30 $0.30 $0.30 $0.30
Valuation date 21 May 2010 21 May 2010 21 May 2010 21 May 2010
expiry date 31 dec 2010 31 dec 2010 31 dec 2011 31 dec 2012
probability factor 80% 100% 50% 25%
Fair value at grant date $0.24 $0.30 $0.15 $0.15
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23. coNtRolleD eNtities

all controlled entities are included in the consolidated financial statements. the financial year-end of the controlled entities is the same 
as that of the parent entity, excluding the indonesian subsidiaries which have a 31 december year end.

Place of 
incorporation

% of  
shares held(i)

Name of controlled entity 2010 2009
pt Jogja Magasa iron indonesia 70 70
terrace Gold pty Ltd australia 80 80
indo energy pty Ltd australia 100 100
indo Mines (indonesia) pty Ltd australia 100 100
Fireside resources Limited australia 100 -
Fireside Singapore pte Ltd Singapore 100 -
Kanlubang Singapore pte Ltd Singapore 100 -
Fireside puerto Nirvana pte Ltd Singapore 100 -
Fireside Cyprus pte Ltd Singapore 100 -
pt puerto Nirvana indonesia 100 -
pt pantai Batu indonesia 100 -
pt Kanlubang Bara utama indonesia 100 -

Notes

(i) the percentage of voting power is its proportion to ownership.

the above named investments in controlled entities have a carrying value at balance date of nil (2009: nil).

during the year ended 30 June 2009, the parent entity gained a 70% interest in pt Jojga Magasa iron (JMi), an indonesian company 
incorporated on 9 September 2008, which owns the Jogjakarta pig iron project. JMi is loan funded by the parent entity and as at  
30 June 2010, $2,744,607 has been advanced (2009: $499,490).  

2010
$

2009
$

24. PAReNt eNtity DiscosuRes
(a) financial Position 
Assets
Current assets 745,401 5,183,964
Non-Current assets 36,437,748 24,411,821
total assets 37,183,149 29,595,785

liabilities
Current Liabilities 396,333 6,572,311
Non-Current Liabilities 6,510,401 -
total Liabilities 6,906,734 6,572,311

equity
issue Capital 66,611,252 34,000,429
Share based payments reserve 1,528,365 4,509,483
available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve 46,575 175,650
accumulated losses (37,909,778) (15,662,088)

total equity 30,276,414 23,023,474

(b) financial Performance 
Loss of the year (25,685,058) (6.674,882)
other comprehensive income/(loss) (129,075) 1,273,833
total comprehensive loss (25,814,133) (5,401,049)

(c) financial support of controlled entities

By a resolution of directors, the parent entity has committed itself to providing financial support to its controlled entities so that it may 
meet its debts as and when they fall due.  
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25. ReMuNeRAtioN of AuDitoRs  

2010
$

2009
$

audit services 
   KpMG australia 52,198 47,008
   other auditors 33,381 -
total Auditors’ Remuneration 85,579 47,008

26. cRiticAl AccouNtiNG estiMAtes AND juDGeMeNts

estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) critical accounting estimates and assumptions

the Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  the resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom 
equal the related actual results.  the estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(i) Estimated impairment of deferred exploration, evaluation and development expenditure

the Group tests annually whether deferred exploration, evaluation and development expenditure has suffered any impairment, in 
accordance with the accounting policy.  

(ii) Valuation of share-based payments

the fair value of options granted (determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model) is recognised as an expense with a 
corresponding increase in equity.  the fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the period during which option holders 
become unconditionally entitled to the options. 

27.  seGMeNt iNfoRMAtioN

Primary Reporting – Geographical segments 

the Group has 2 reportable segments as described below, which are Group’s strategic business units.  the strategic business units 
undertake the same business activity – exploration and development.  they are managed separately as they are operated in different 
geographical areas.  For each of the strategic business units, the directors review internal management reports at least half yearly.

the following summary describes the operations of each of the reportable segments:

•	 indonesia – exploration and development activities in indonesia

•	 australia – corporate
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28. eARNiNGs PeR shARe

cents per 
share 2010

cents per 
share 2009

Basic profit/(loss) per share:
From continuing operations (29.3) (8.7)
total basic profit/(loss) per share (29.3) (8.7)

Diluted profit/(loss) per share:
From continuing operations (29.3) (8.7)
total diluted profit/(loss) per share (29.3) (8.7)

the following reflects the income and share data used in the calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share:

2010
$

2009
$

Net profit/(loss) used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share (27,069,966) (7,015,826)

Number of Number of
shares shares
2010 2009

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share 92,216,808 80,735,444
effect of dilutive securities* - -
adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used in 
calculating basic and diluted earnings per share 92,216,808 80,735,444

*dilutive securities

at 30 June 2010, these options were not included in the calculation of diluted epS as they were not considered dilutive as they would 
decrease the loss per share.  accordingly, for the year ended 30 June 2010, diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share.

conversions, calls, subscriptions or issues after 30 june 2010

Since 30 June 2010, the following incentive options have been granted:

•	 7,200,000 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 30 November 2011, vesting upon a volume weighted 
average shares price over 5 trading days of $0.40;

•	 7,200,000 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 31 december 2011, vesting upon a volume weighted 
average shares price over 5 trading days of $0.50;and

•	 7,200,000 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 30 June 2012, vesting upon a volume weighted average 
shares price over 5 trading days of $0.60.

No shares have been issued as a result of the exercise of options since 30 June 2010 and no options have expired.
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29. Notes to the cAsh flow stAteMeNts    

2010
$

2009
$

(a) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) from continuing operations after tax
 to net cash flows from operating activities
 
profit/(loss) for the year (27,664,771) (7,161,482)

Adjustment for non-cash income and expense items
depreciation 25,140 47,004
impairment of fixed assets 1,954 -
Fair value adjustments 1,841,121 -
provision for dimunition of investments - 4,645,000
impairment of acquisition cost of Fireside resources 11,293,728 -
impairment of pre-acquisition loan to Fireside resources 3,209,335 -
Loss/(gain) on sale of other financial assets (25,788) 55,327
Share-based payments expensed 7,979,764 447,142
exploration expenditure written off 40,617 2,874
unrealised foreign exchange loss/(gain) (141,362) (9,386)

changes in assets and liabilities
decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables (77,917) (30,944)
increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (6,086) 451,745
increase/(decrease) in current tax liabilities (961,769) 25,111
increase/(decrease) in deferred tax balances - 83,507
increase/(decrease) in provisions (1,250) (5,301)

Net cash outflows from operating activities (4,487,284) (1,449,403)

(b) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and on hand 840,003 577,562
Short term deposits 71,540 3,020,000

911,453 3,597,562

(c) credit standby Arrangements with Banks

at balance date, other than as outlined in Note 13, the Company had no used or unused financing facilities.
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29. Notes to the cAsh flow stAteMeNts (coNtiNueD)    

(d) Non-cash financing and investing Activities

30 June 2010

during the financial year ended 30 June 2010, the Company acquired 100% of Fireside resources Ltd which holds the contractual 
rights to purchase coal from the Mangkok Coal project in South Kalimantan. the Mangkok project consists of Block C, which Fireside 
has contractual rights, as well as Block d, which an affiliate of Fireside resources, pt rindra Bara utama (rBu), holds various exploration 
and development rights. the Company has no contractual rights to Block d.  

Fireside does not have any direct ownership in rBu and as such, the portion of consideration allocated to the additional exploration 
potential (Block d and remaining CCoW area) of the Mangkok project cannot be recognised as an asset under aaSB 6 and accordingly 
has been expensed as at 30 June 2010. details of consideration provided to Fireside shareholders in consideration are as follows:

2010
$

Consideration given

20,000 000 ordinary shares 6,000,000
14,400,000 additional ordinary Shares 3,888,000
20,000,000 Class a performance Shares 4,800,000
20,000,000 Class B performance Shares 6,000,000
15,000,000 Class C performance Shares 2,250,000
20,000,000 Class d and 20,000,000 Class e performance Shares 3,000,000
2,000,000 $0.20 Vendor options 484,000
1,000,000 $1.000 Vendor options 156,000

26,578,000
Share based payments in relation to funding milestones of Jogjakarta iron project expensed  
(Class a and d&e performance Shares) (7,800,000)

18,778,000
other costs 87,450
total cost 18,865,450

Fair value of net assets acquired 852,734
excess of consideration over fair value of assets acquired 18,012,716

allocation of net consideration paid:
other exploration expenditure 11,293,728
Mining rights 6,718,988

18,012,716

Full details on the valuation methodology in relation to the above consideration and terms and conditions of the securities issues are 
outlined in Note 22.

the Company issued anglo pacific Group plc a total of 664,901 ordinary shares during the year in consideration of the interest payable 
on the convertible note facility for the quarters ending 31 March 2010 and 30 June 2010 totalling $179,764.

during the financial year ended 30 June 2010, the Company issued 5,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares to Nusantara energy Ltd at an 
issue price of $0.29 per share (refer Note 16) pursuant to the acquisition agreement to acquire an interest in the Jogjakarta ironsands 
project (“project”) following the Company increasing its interest in the project from 30% to 70% and the signing of a Contract of 
Works for the project. 

30 June 2009

there were no non-cash financing and investing activities during the financial year ended 30 June 2009.

30. fiNANciAl Risk MANAGeMeNt oBjectives AND Policies
(a) overview

the Company’s and Group’s principal financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, available-
for-sale investments, cash and short-term deposits.  the main risks arising from the Company’s and Group’s financial instruments are 
interest rate risk, equity price risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

this note presents information about the Company’s and Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, its objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.  other than as disclosed, there have been no significant 
changes since the previous financial year to the exposure or management of these risks. 

the Board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. Given the 
nature and size of the business, no formal risk management committees have been established, however responsibility for control 
and risk management is delegated to the appropriate level of management with the chairman and chief financial officer (or their 
equivalent) having ultimate responsibility to the Board for the risk management and control framework. 

risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and 
controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes 
in market conditions and the Company’s activities.  
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arrangements put in place by the Board to monitor risk management include monthly reporting to the Board in respect of the 
operations and financial position of the Company. the Board also reviews risks that relate to operations and financial instruments as 
required, but at least every six months.

Given the uncertainty as to the timing and amount of cash inflows and outflows, the Company has not implemented any additional 
strategies to mitigate the financial risks and no hedging has been put in place.  as the Company’s operations change, the directors will 
review this policy periodically going forward.

(b) credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company or Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations.  this arises principally from cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables.

the carrying amount of the Company’s and Group’s financial assets represents the maximum credit risk exposure, as represented below:

2010 2009
$ $

Cash and cash equivalents 911,453 3,535,285
restricted cash and cash equivalents 411,624 60,000
trade and other receivables 161,026 551,044
prepayments 2,181,245 -
other financial assets 58,050 1,597,125

3,723,398 5,743,454

the Group does not have any significant customers and accordingly does not have any significant exposure to bad or doubtful debts.  

trade and other receivables comprise GSt and other tax refunds due. Where possible the Group trades only with recognised, 
creditworthy third parties.  it is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification 
procedures.  in addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts 
is not significant.  at 30 June 2010, none (2009: none) of the Group’s receivables are past due.  

Significant concentration of credit risk exists within cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets. Cash and cash equivalents is 
invested at a counterparty with a good credit rating. other financial assets consist of mainly listed securities tradable on aSX. 

the Group accounts include a receivable from Fireside resources Limited in relation to pre-acquisition funding of $3,209,335 of which 
$910,806 was provided to pt rindra Bara utama, an affiliated entity as outlined in Note 29(d). this amount has been fully provided 
for as at 30 June 2010

With respect to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, the Company’s and Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default 
of the counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. Cash and cash equivalents are held 
with the aNZ Bank which is an australian bank with an aa credit rating (Standard & poor’s).

in relation to credit risk arising from other financial assets, the Group limits its exposure by only investing in liquid securities tradable 
on the australian Securities exchange (aSX).

(c) liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  the Board’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that the Group will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due.  

the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments, are provided below.  there are no netting 
arrangements in respect of financial liabilities.

2010
≤6 months

$
6-12 months

$
1-5 years

$
≥5 years

$
total

$
Group
financial liabilities
trade and other payables 699,313 - - - 699,313
deferred income 1,867,632 - - - 1,867,632
Current tax liabilities - - - - -
Borrowings - - 1,841,121 4,669,280 6,510,401

2,566,945 - 1,841,121 4,669,280 9,077,346

2009
Group
financial liabilities
trade and other payables 684,917 - - - 684,917
Current tax liabilities 507,000 454,769 - - 961,769
Borrowings 4,971,847 - - - 4,971,847

6,163,764 454,769 - - 6,618,533
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30. fiNANciAl Risk MANAGeMeNt oBjectives AND Policies (coNtiNueD)

(d) interest rate risk

the Company’s and Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the cash and short-term 
deposits with a floating interest rate.

these financial assets with variable rates expose the Company and Group to cash flow interest rate risk.  all other financial assets and 
liabilities, in the form of receivables, investments and payables are non-interest bearing.

 all cash balances were interest bearing as disclosed below:

2010 2009
$ $

variable rate instruments 
Financial assets 911,453 3,683,848

911,453 3,683,848

fixed rate instruments
Financial liabilities (6,510,401) (4,971,847)

(6,510,401) (4,971,847)

the Group’s cash at bank and on hand and short term deposits had a weighted average floating interest rate at year end of 2.35% 
(2009: 2.91%).

the Group currently does not engage in any hedging or derivative transactions to manage interest rate risk.

Interest rate sensitivity 

a sensitivity of 20 per cent has been selected as this is considered reasonable given the current level of both short term and long term 
interest rates.  a 20% movement in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and profit and loss 
by the amounts shown below.  this analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. this 
analysis is prepared based on cash balances as at year end and due to significant movements in the cash balance throughout the year 
is not considered representative of the risk during the year.

Profit or loss
20% increase 20% decrease

2010
Group
Cash and cash equivalents 4,956 (4,956)

2009
Group
Cash and cash equivalents 21,247 (21,427)

the financial liabilties are at fixed interest rates therefore not subject to risk.

(e) foreign currency risk

as a result of activities overseas, the Company’s and Group’s balance sheet can be affected by movements in exchange rates.

the Group also has transactional currency exposures. Such exposure arises from transactions denominated in currencies other than the 
functional currency of the entity.

the Group currently does not engage in any hedging or derivative transactions to manage foreign currency risk.

the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows, based on notional amounts in aud:

indonesian Rupiah united states Dollar
2010 2009 2010 2009

Cash and cash equivalents 90,674 62,238 33,109 -
restricted cash and equivalents 80,973 26,286 - -
trade and other receivables 109,427 17,160 270,650 -
prepayments 127 - 2,179,245 -
trade and other payables (242,279) (48,380) - -
deferred income - - (1,867,632) -
Borrowings - - (6,510,401) (4,971,847)

38,922 57,304 (2,895,029) (4,971,847)

the following significant exchange rates applied during the year:
Average Rate As at 30 june

AuD 2010 2009 2010 2009

rp 8,353 7,849 7,852 8,288
uSd 0.8822 0.7480 0.8567 0.8048
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Sensitivity analysis for currency risk

a strengthening of the aud, as indicated below, against the rp and uSd at 30 June would have increased (decreased) equity and profit 
or loss by the amounts shown below. this analysis is based on foreign currency exchange rate variances that the Group considered 
to be reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period.  this analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, 
remain constant. the analysis is performed on the same basis for 2009, albeit that the reasonably possible foreign exchange rate 
variance were different, as indicated below.

2010 equity Profit or (loss)

uSd (10% strengthening) 289,503 289,503
rp (10% strengthening) (3,892) (3,892)

2009

uSd (10% strengthening) 497,184 497,184
rp (10% strengthening) (5,730) (5,730)

(f) equity price risk

the Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity investments.  equity investments are held for strategic rather than 
trading purposes.  the Group does not actively trade these investments and no hedging or derivative transactions have been used to 
manage equity price risk.

Equity price sensitivity 

the sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks arising from available-for-sale financial 
assets held at the reporting date.  at reporting date, if the equity prices had been 20% higher or lower:

•	 equity reserves at 30 June 2010 would increase/decrease by $11,610 (2009: increase/decrease by $319,425) for the Group and 
the Company as a result of the changes in fair value of available-for-sale investments.

the Group’s sensitivity to equity prices decreased significantly from the prior year following the sale of the Minemakers shares received 
as part consideration for the Wonarah 10% clawback right.

(g)  commodity Price risk

the Group is exposed to commodity price risk.  these commodity prices can be volatile and are influenced by factors beyond the 
Group’s control.  the Group is currently engaged in a coal supply agreement for the Mangkok Coal project and has a forward sales 
agreement for the first 300,000 tonnes of coal from this project at a fixed price. other than this, no sales of commodities are forecasted 
for the next 12 months, and accordingly, no other hedging or derivative transactions have been used to manage commodity price risk.

(h) capital management

the Board’s policy is to maintain a suitable capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business.  Given the stage of development of the Group, the Board’s objective is to minimise debt and to raise 
funds as required through the issue of new shares. 

there were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

the Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

(i) fair value 

the net fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying value.  the methods for estimating fair value 
are outlined in the relevant notes to the financial statements. 
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31.  coMMitMeNts

estimated commitments for which no provisions were included in the financial statements are as follows:

(a) exploration expenditure commitments

the company has no obligations to incur minimum exploration expenditure on the Jogjakarta iron project or Mangkok Coal project.   
all other tenements are farmed out whereby the farminee is contracted to meet the minimum expenditure commitment.

a controlled entity holds a number of tenements in peru.  there is no minimum exploration work commitment for these tenements.

(b) operating lease commitments

2010
$

2009
$

Non-cancellable operating lease contracted for but not capitalised in the financial statements

Minimum lease payments payable:
 - not later than one year 146,805 139,814
 - later than one year but not later than 5 years 219,673 366,478
 - later than 5 years - -

366,478 506,292

the non-cancellable operating lease recognised in the current year expires 19 November 2012. 

(c) Minera Andes del Norte sAc

terrace Gold NL (“terrace”) a controlled entity exercised its option to acquire the issued capital of Minera andes del Norte SaC in 1997. 
terrace issued 5,000,000 ordinary fully paid shares to the vendor as part of the settlement of this acquisition.  Further shares in terrace 
may need to be issued to the vendor upon the Stock exchange listing of terrace in order that the vendor’s holding will equate to the 
greater of 5,000,000 shares or 10% of the issued capital of terrace at the time of such listing.

(d) financial support of controlled entity

the parent entity has committed to provide financial support to its controlled entities, Fireside resources Limited and terrace Gold pty Ltd.  

(e) terrace Gold ‘s Acquisition of Nangali

terrace Gold pty Ltd and Compass resources NL signed a letter of intent with Compania LJB Normandy peru Sa to acquire the Nangali 
Gold project in 2004.  pursuant to the Letter of intent, the parties paid uS$30,000 upon signing with a further uS$200,000 due when 
full title has been transferred to terrace and Compass.  in June 2006 the parties agreed to expedite the purchase and varied the terms 
of this Letter of intent such that the balance of the purchase price was reduced to uS$150,000 payable immediately.  terrace’s share 
of the balance outstanding is uS$45,000, which was paid on 14 July 2006.  a supreme decree is now being sought so that full title 
can be transferred to terrace and Compass. 

32.  coNtiNGeNt liABilities

in accordance with normal industry practice the economic entity has entered into joint venture operations and farm-in agreements 
with other parties for the purpose of exploring and developing its mineral interests.  if a party to a joint venture defaults and does not 
contribute its share of joint venture obligations, then the other joint venturers are liable to meet those obligations.  in this event the 
interest in the tenements held by the defaulting party may be redistributed to the remaining joint venturers.  a contingent liability exists 
in respect of contributions due to be paid by farm-in partners of the economic entity to some of its joint ventures. 

33.  suBseQueNt eveNts

in July 2010, the Company granted the following incentive options:

•	 7,200,000 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 30 November 2011, vesting upon a volume weighted 
average shares price over 5 trading days of $0.40;

•	 7,200,000 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 31 december 2011, vesting upon a volume weighted 
average shares price over 5 trading days of $0.50; and

•	 7,200,000 incentive options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 30 June 2012, vesting upon a volume weighted average 
shares price over 5 trading days of $0.60.

Following year end, the Company undertook a placement of 17.5 million ordinary shares at $0.20 each to institutional and sophisticated 
investors to raise $3.5 million before costs. Funds raised from the placement will be used to accelerate the feasibility study of the 
Jogjakarta iron project, and to provide general working capital.

other than as outlined above, as at the date of this report there are no matters or circumstances, which have arisen since 30 June 2010 
that have significantly affected or may significantly affect:

(a) the operations, in financial years subsequent to 30 June 2010, of the Company or Group;

(b) the results of those operations, in financials years subsequent to 30 June 2010, of the Company or Group; or

(c) the state of affairs, in financial years subsequent to 30 June 2010, of the Company or Group.

 

NoteS to aNd ForMiNG part oF tHe FiNaNCiaL StateMeNtS (CoNtiNued)
For tHe FiNaNCiaL year eNded 30 JuNe 2010

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



iNDo MiNes liMiteD ANNUAL REPORT 2010 57

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

in accordance with a resolution of the directors of indo Mines Limited, i state that:

(1) in the opinion of the directors:

(a) the financial statements and notes and the remuneration report in the directors’ report set out on pages 10 to 13 are in 
accordance with the Corporations act 2001 including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its performance for the year 
ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with australian accounting Standards (including the australian accounting interpretations) and the 
Corporations regulations 2001; 

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due  
and payable;

(c) the financial statements also comply with international Financial reporting Standards as disclosed in note 1(b); and

(2) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities when they become 
due and payable; and

(3) the directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295a of the Corporations act 2001 from the chief executive 
officer and chief financial officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2010.

on behalf of the Board.

 

     

MARtiN hAcoN
Managing Director & ceo

dated this 30th day of September 2010
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iNDePeNDeNt AuDitoR’s RePoRt to the MeMBeRs of iNDo MiNes liMiteD

RePoRt oN the fiNANciAl RePoRt

We have audited the accompanying financial report of the Group comprising indo Mines Limited (the Company) and the entities it 
controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year, which comprises the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 30 June 2010, and consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes 21 to 57 and the directors’ declaration. 

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report

the directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with 
australian accounting Standards (including the australian accounting interpretations) and the Corporations act 2001. this 
responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; 
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. in note 1(b), the directors also state, in accordance with 
australian accounting Standard aaSB 101 presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial report, comprising the financial 
statements and notes, complies with international Financial reporting Standards. 

Auditor’s responsibility 

our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with australian 
auditing Standards. these auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. the 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
report, whether due to fraud or error. in making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. an audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with the 
Corporations act 2001 and australian accounting Standards (including the australian accounting interpretations), a view which is 
consistent with our understanding of the Group’s financial position and of its performance. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

independence

in conducting our audit, we have compiled with the independence requirements of the Corporations act 2001.

iNdepeNdeNt audit report
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Auditor’s opinion

in our opinion:

(a) the financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its performance for the year ended  
  on that date; and

(ii) complying with australian accounting Standards (including the australian accounting interpretations) and the  
  Corporations regulations 2001.

(b) the financial report also complies with international reporting Standards as disclosed in note 1(b). 

Material uncertainty regarding continuation as a going concern

Without qualifying our conclusion, we draw attention to the following matter. as a result of the matter described in note 1(a), there 
is a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt as to whether the group will be able to continue as a going concern and 
therefore whether it will be able to realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts 
states in the financial report. 

Report on the remuneration report

We have audited the remuneration report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2010. the directors of the 
company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with Section 300a of the 
Corporations act 2001. our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with auditing standards. 

Auditor’s opinion

in our opinion, the remuneration report of indo Mines Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010, complies with Section 300a of the 
Corporations act 2001. 

kPMG

BReNt steeDMAN
Partner

perth

30 September 2010
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Corporate GoVerNaNCe StateMeNt

the Board of directors of indo Mines Limited is responsible for its corporate governance, that is, the system by which the Group  
is managed.

1. BoARD of DiRectoRs

1.1 Role of the Board and Management

the Board represents shareholders’ interests in continuing a successful business, which seeks to optimise medium to long-term financial 
gains for shareholders. By not focusing on short-term gains for shareholders, the Board believes that this will ultimately result in the 
interests of all stakeholders being appropriately addressed when making business decisions.

the Board is responsible for ensuring that the Group is managed in such a way to best achieve this desired result. Given the current 
size and operations of the business, the Board currently undertakes an active, not passive role. 

the Board is responsible for evaluating and setting the strategic directions for the Group, establishing goals for management  
and monitoring the achievement of these goals. the Managing director is responsible to the Board for the day-to-day management 
of the Group.

the Board has sole responsibility for the following:

•	 appointing and removing the Managing director and any other executives and approving their remuneration;

•	 appointing and removing the Company Secretary / Chief Financial officer and approving their remuneration; 

•	 determining the strategic direction of the Group and measuring performance of management against approved strategies;

•	 review of the adequacy of resources for management to properly carry out approved strategies and business plans; 

•	 adopting operating and capital expenditure budgets at the commencement of each financial year and monitoring the progress 
by both financial and non-financial key performance indicators;

•	 monitoring the Group’s medium term capital and cash flow requirements;

•	 approving and monitoring financial and other reporting to regulatory bodies, shareholders and other organisations;

•	 determining that satisfactory arrangements are in place for auditing the Group’s financial affairs;

•	 review and ratify systems of risk management and internal compliance and control, codes of conduct and compliance with 
legislative requirements; and

•	 ensuring that policies and compliance systems consistent with the Group’s objectives and best practice are in place and that the 
Company and its officers act legally, ethically and responsibly on all matters.

the Board’s role and the Group’s corporate governance practices are being continually reviewed and improved as required.

1.2 composition of the Board and New Appointments

the Company currently has the following Board members:

Mr Christopher Catlow  Non-executive Chairman
Mr Martin Hacon Managing director and Chief executive officer
dr derek Fisher Non-executive director
Mr paul Kopejtka Non-executive director
Mr darryl Harris  Non-executive director

details of the directors, including their qualifications, experience and date of appointment are set out in the directors’ report. 

the Company’s Constitution provides that the number of directors shall not be less than three and not more than ten. there is no 
requirement for any share holding qualification.

the Board has assessed the independence status of the directors and has determined that there is one independent director, being 
Mr Kopejtka.  

the Board has followed the aSX Corporate Governance principles and recommendations when assessing the independence of the 
directors which define an independent director to be a director who:

•	 is non-executive; 

•	 is not a substantial shareholder (i.e. greater than 5%) of the Company or an officer of, or otherwise associated, directly or 
indirectly, with a substantial shareholder of the Company; 

•	 has not within the last three years been employed in an executive capacity by the Company or another Group member, or been 
a director after ceasing to hold such employment; 

•	 within the last three years has not been a principal or employee of a material professional adviser or a material consultant to the 
Company or another Group member; 

•	 is not a significant supplier or customer of the Company or another Group member, or an officer of or otherwise associated, 
directly or indirectly, with a significant supplier or customer; 

•	 has no material contractual relationship with the Company or another Group member other than as a director of the Company; 
and 

•	 is free from any interest and any business or other relationship which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially 
interfere with the director’s ability to act in the best interests of the Company.
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Materiality for these purposes is determined on both quantitative and qualitative bases.  an amount which is greater than five percent 
of either the net assets of the Company or an individual director’s net worth is considered material for these purposes.  

the Board considers that the Company is not currently of a size, nor are its affairs of such complexity to justify the appointment and 
further expense of additional independent Non-executive directors. the Board believes that the individuals on the Board can make, and 
do make, quality and independent judgments in the best interests of the Company on all relevant issues.

if the Group’s activities increase in size, nature and scope, the size of the Board will be reviewed periodically to determine the optimum 
number of directors required for the Board to properly perform its responsibilities and functions. 

the membership of the Board, its activities and composition is subject to periodic review. the criteria for determining the identification 
and appointment of a suitable candidate for the Board shall include quality of the individual, background of experience and achievement, 
compatibility with other Board members, credibility within the Group’s scope of activities, intellectual ability to contribute to the Board 
duties and physical ability to undertake the Board duties and responsibilities.

directors are initially appointed by the full Board subject to election by shareholders at the next annual general meeting. under the 
Company’s Constitution the tenure of directors (other than managing director, and only one managing director where the position is 
jointly held) is subject to reappointment by shareholders not later than the third anniversary following his last appointment. Subject 
to the requirements of the Corporations act 2001, the Board does not subscribe to the principle of retirement age and there is no 
maximum period of service as a director. a managing director may be appointed for any period and on any terms the directors think 
fit and, subject to the terms of any agreement entered into, the Board may revoke any appointment.

1.3 committees of the Board

the Board considers that the Group is not currently of a size, nor are its affairs of such complexity to justify the formation of separate 
or special committees at this time.  the Board as a whole is able to address the governance aspects of the full scope of the Group’s 
activities and to ensure that it adheres to appropriate ethical standards.

the Board has also established a framework for the management of the Group including a system of internal controls, a business risk 
management process and the establishment of appropriate ethical standards.

the full Board currently holds meetings at such times as may be necessary to address any general or specific matters as required.

if the Group’s activities increase in size, scope and nature, the appointment of separate or special committees will be reviewed by the 
Board and implemented if appropriate.

1.4 conflicts of interest

in accordance with the Corporations act 2001 and the Company’s Constitution, directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing 
basis, of any interest that could potentially conflict with those of the Group.  Where the Board believes that a significant conflict exists 
the director concerned does not receive the relevant board papers and is not present at the meeting whilst the item is considered.  

1.5 independent Professional Advice

the Board has determined that individual directors have the right in connection with their duties and responsibilities as directors,  
to seek independent professional advice at the Group’s expense.  the engagement of an outside adviser is subject to prior approval 
of the Chairman and this will not be withheld unreasonably. if appropriate, any advice so received will be made available to all  
Board members.

2. ethicAl stANDARDs

the Board acknowledges the need for continued maintenance of the highest standard of corporate governance practice and ethical 
conduct by all directors and employees of the Group.

2.1 code of conduct for Directors

the Board has adopted a Code of Conduct for directors to promote ethical and responsible decision-making by the directors. the code 
is based on a code of conduct for directors prepared by the australian institute of Company directors. 

the principles of the code are:

•	 a director must act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the Company as a whole;

•	 a director has a duty to use due care and diligence in fulfilling the functions of office and exercising the powers attached to 
that office;

•	 a director must use the powers of office for a proper purpose, in the best interests of the Company as a whole;

•	 a director must recognise that the primary responsibility is to the Company’s shareholders as a whole but should, where 
appropriate, have regard for the interest of all stakeholders of the Company;

•	 a director must not make improper use of information acquired as a director;

•	 a director must not take improper advantage of the position of director;

•	 a director must not allow personal interests, or the interests of any associated person, to conflict with the interests of the Company;

•	 a director has an obligation to be independent in judgment and actions and to take all reasonable steps to be satisfied as to the 
soundness of all decisions taken as a Board;

•	 confidential information received by a director in the course of the exercise of directorial duties remains the property of the 
Company and it is improper to disclose it, or allow it to be disclosed, unless that disclosure has been authorised by the Company, 
or the person from whom the information is provided, or is required by law;
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Corporate GoVerNaNCe StateMeNt (CoNtiNued)

2. ethicAl stANDARDs (coNtiNueD)

2.1 code of conduct for Directors (continued)

•	 a director should not engage in conduct likely to bring discredit upon the Company; and

•	 a director has an obligation at all times, to comply with the spirit, as well as the letter of the law and with the principles of  
the Code.

the principles are supported by guidelines as set out by the australian institute of Company directors for their interpretation. directors 
are also obliged to comply with the Company’s Code of ethics and Conduct, as outlined below.

2.2 code of ethics and conduct

the Group has implemented a Code of ethics and Conduct, which provides guidelines aimed at maintaining high ethical standards, 
corporate behaviour and accountability within the Group.

all employees and directors are expected to:

•	 respect the law and act in accordance with it;

•	 respect confidentiality and not misuse Group information, assets or facilities;

•	 value and maintain professionalism;

•	 avoid real or perceived conflicts of interest;

•	 act in the best interests of shareholders;

•	 by their actions contribute to the Group’s reputation as a good corporate citizen which seeks the respect of the community and 
environment in which it operates;

•	 perform their duties in ways that minimise environmental impacts and maximise workplace safety;

•	 exercise fairness, courtesy, respect, consideration and sensitivity in all dealings within their workplace and with customers, 
suppliers and the public generally; and

•	 act with honesty, integrity, decency and responsibility at all times.

an employee that breaches the Code of ethics and Conduct may face disciplinary action. if an employee suspects that a breach of 
the Code of ethics and Conduct has occurred or will occur, he or she must report that breach to management. No employee will be 
disadvantaged or prejudiced if he or she reports in good faith a suspected breach. all reports will be acted upon and kept confidential.

2.3 Dealings in company securities

the Group’s share trading policy imposes trading restrictions on all employees of the Group with ‘inside information’, and additional 
trading restrictions on the directors of the Company.

‘inside information’ is information that:

•	 is not generally available; and

•	 if it were generally available, it would, or would be likely to influence investors in deciding whether to buy or sell the Company’s 
securities.

if an employee possesses inside information, the person must not:

•	 trade in the Company’s securities;

•	 advise others or procure others to trade in the Company’s securities; or

•	 pass on the inside information to others – including colleagues, family or friends – knowing (or where the employee or director 
should have reasonably known) that the other persons will use that information to trade in, or procure someone else to trade 
in, the Company’s securities.

this prohibition applies regardless of how the employee or director learns the information (e.g. even if the employee or director 
overhears it or is told in a social setting).

in addition to the above, directors must notify the Company Secretary as soon as practicable, but not later than 5 business days, after 
they have bought or sold the Company’s securities or exercised options. in accordance with the provisions of the Corporations act 
2001 and the Listing rules of the aSX, the Company on behalf of the directors must advise the aSX of any transactions conducted by 
them in the securities of the Company.

Breaches of this policy will be subject to disciplinary action, which may include termination of employment.

these restrictions have been developed having regard to the current nature of the Company’s activities, being exploration and 
development rather than production. Should the Company move into production, then the policy may be amended to restrict trading 
of securities during certain periods prior to the release of operating results.

2.4 interests of other stakeholders

the Group’s objective is to leverage into resource projects to provide a solid base in the future from which the Group can build 
its resource business and create wealth for shareholders. the Group’s operations are subject to various environmental laws and 
regulations under the relevant government’s legislation. Full compliance with these laws and regulations is regarded as a minimum 
standard for the Group to achieve.

to assist in meeting its objective, the Group conducts its business within the Code of ethics and Conduct, as outlined in 2.2 above.
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3. DisclosuRe of iNfoRMAtioN

3.1 continuous Disclosure to Asx

the continuous disclosure policy requires all executives and directors to inform the Managing director or in their absence the Company 
Secretary of any potentially material information as soon as practicable after they become aware of that information.

information is material if it is likely that the information would influence investors who commonly acquire securities on aSX in deciding 
whether to buy, sell or hold the Company’s securities.

information need not be disclosed if:

a) it is not material and a reasonable person would not expect the information to be disclosed, or it is material but due to a specific 
valid commercial reason is not to be disclosed; and

b) the information is confidential; or

c) one of the following applies:

i. it would breach a law or regulation to disclose the information;

ii. the information concerns an incomplete proposal or negotiation;

iii. the information comprises matters of supposition or is insufficiently definite to warrant disclosure;

iv. the information is generated for internal management purposes;

v. the information is a trade secret;

vi. it would breach a material term of an agreement, to which the Group is a party, to disclose the information;

vii. the information is scientific data that release of which may benefit the Group’s potential competitors.

the Managing director is responsible for interpreting and monitoring the Group’s disclosure policy and where necessary informing the 
Board. the Company Secretary is responsible for all communications with aSX.

3.2 communication with shareholders

the Group places considerable importance on effective communications with shareholders. 

the Group’s communication strategy requires communication with shareholders and other stakeholders in an open, regular and timely 
manner so that the market has sufficient information to make informed investment decisions on the operations and results of the 
Group. the strategy provides for the use of systems that ensure a regular and timely release of information about the Group is provided 
to shareholders. Mechanisms employed include:

•	 announcements lodged with aSX;

•	 aSX Quarterly Cash Flow reports;

•	 Half yearly report; 

•	 presentations at the annual General Meeting/General Meetings; and

•	 annual report.

the Board encourages full participation of shareholders at the annual General Meeting to ensure a high level of accountability and 
understanding of the Group’s strategy and goals. 

the Group also posts all reports, aSX and media releases and copies of significant business presentations on the Company’s website.  

4. Risk MANAGeMeNt AND iNteRNAl coNtRol

4.1 Approach to Risk Management and internal control

the identification and effective management of risk, including calculated risk-taking, is viewed as an essential part of the Group’s 
approach to creating long-term shareholder value. 

the Group operates a standardised risk management process that provides a consistent framework for the identification, assessment, 
monitoring and management of material business risks. this process is based on the australian/New Zealand Standard for risk 
Management (aS/NZS 4360 risk Management) and the Committee of Sponsoring organisations of the uS treadway Commission 
(CoSo) control framework for enterprise risk management. 

Strategic and operational risks are reviewed at least annually as part of the annual strategic planning, business planning, forecasting 
and budgeting process. 

the Group has developed a series of operational risks which the Group believes to be inherent in the industry in which the Group 
operates having regard to the Group’s circumstances (including financial resources, prospects and size). these include: 

•	 fluctuations in commodity prices and exchange rates;

•	 accuracy of mineral reserve and resource estimates;

•	 reliance on licenses, permits and approvals from governmental authorities;

•	 ability to obtain additional financing; and

•	 changing operating, market or regulatory environments.

these risk areas are provided here to assist investors to understand better the nature of the risks faced by our Group and the industry 
in which the Group operates. they are not necessarily an exhaustive list. 
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Corporate GoVerNaNCe StateMeNt (CoNtiNued)

4. Risk MANAGeMeNt AND iNteRNAl coNtRol (coNtiNueD)

4.2  Risk Management Roles and Responsibilities 

Management is responsible for designing, implementing and reporting on the adequacy of the Group’s risk management and internal 
control system. Management reports to the Board annually, or more frequently as required, on the Group’s key risks and the extent to 
which it believes these risks are being managed. 

the Board is responsible for reviewing and approving the Group’s risk management and internal control system and satisfying itself 
annually, or more frequently if required, that management has developed and implemented a sound system of risk management and 
internal control.

in 2010 the Board reviewed the overall risk profile for the Group and received reports from management on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s management of its material business risks.

4.3 integrity of financial Reporting

the Board also receives a written assurance from the Chief executive officer or equivalent (Ceo) and the Chief Financial officer or 
equivalent (CFo) that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the declaration provided by them in accordance with section 295a 
of the Corporations act is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that the system is operating 
effectively in relation to financial reporting risks. 

the Board notes that due to its nature, internal control assurance from the Ceo and CFo can only be reasonable rather than absolute. 
this is due to such factors as the need for judgement, the use of testing on a sample basis, the inherent limitations in internal control 
and because much of the evidence available is persuasive rather than conclusive and therefore is not and cannot be designed to detect 
all weaknesses in control procedures. 

 4.4 Role of external Auditor

the Group’s practice is to invite the auditor (who now must attend) to attend the annual general meeting and be available to answer 
shareholder questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the auditor’s report.

5. PeRfoRMANce Review

the Board has adopted a self-evaluation process to measure its own performance and the performance of its committees (if any) during 
each financial year. also, an annual review is undertaken in relation to the composition and skills mix of the directors of the Company.

arrangements put in place by the Board to monitor the performance of the Group’s executives include:

•	 a review by the Board of the Group’s financial performance;

•	 annual performance appraisal meetings incorporating analysis of key performance indicators with each individual to ensure that 
the level of reward is aligned with respective responsibilities and individual contributions made to the success of the Group;

•	 in analysis of the Group’s prospects and projects; and

•	 a review of feedback obtained from third parties, including advisors.

the remuneration report discloses the process for evaluating the performance of senior executives, including the Managing director. 

in 2010, performance evaluations for senior executives took place in accordance with the process disclosed above and in the 
remuneration report. 

6. ReMuNeRAtioN ARRANGeMeNts

the broad remuneration policy is to ensure that remuneration properly reflects the relevant persons duties and responsibilities, and 
that the remuneration is competitive in attracting, retaining and motivating people of the highest quality. the Board believes that the 
best way to achieve this objective is to provide executive directors and executives with a remuneration package consisting of fixed 
components that reflect the person’s responsibilities, duties and personal performance. 

in addition to the above, the Group has developed a limited equity-based remuneration arrangement for key executives and consultants. 

the remuneration of Non-executive directors is determined by the Board as a whole having regard to the level of fees paid to non-
executive directors by other companies of similar size in the industry.

the aggregate amount payable to the Company’s Non-executive directors must not exceed the maximum annual amount approved 
by the Company’s shareholders.
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during the 2010 financial year, the Company complied with the aSX principles and recommendations other than in relation to the 
matters specified below.

Recommendation 
Reference

Notification of Departure explanation for Departure

2.2 No independent Chairman the Board considers that the Company is not currently of a size, nor are 
its affairs of such complexity to justify the expense of the appointment 
of an independent Chairman.
the Company’s Chairman, Mr Christopher Catlow, is considered by 
the Board not to be independent in terms of the aSX Corporate 
Governance Council’s definition of independent director.
However the Board believes that the Chairman is able to and does 
bring quality and independent judgment to all relevant issues falling 
within the scope of the role of a Chairman.

2.4 a separate Nomination 
Committee has not  
been formed.

the Board considers that the Company is not currently of a size to 
justify the formation of a nomination committee. the Board as a whole 
undertakes the process of reviewing the skill base and experience of 
existing directors to enable identification or attributes required in new 
directors. Where appropriate independent consultants are engaged to 
identify possible new candidates for the Board.

4.2, 4.3, 4.4 a separate audit 
Committee has not been 
formed and there is not  
an audit Committee 
operating charter.

the Board considers that the Company is not of a size, nor are its 
financial affairs of such complexity to justify the formation of an audit 
committee. the Board as a whole undertakes the selection and proper 
application of accounting policies, the identification and management 
of risk and the review of the operation of the internal control systems.

9.2 there is no separate 
remuneration Committee.

the Board considers that the Company is not currently of a size, nor are 
its affairs of such complexity to justify the formation of a remuneration 
committee. the Board as a whole is responsible for the remuneration 
arrangements for directors and executives of the Company.

as the Company’s activities increase in size, scope and/or nature, the Company’s corporate governance principles will be reviewed by 
the Board and amended as appropriate.
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the shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 30 September 2010.

1. tweNty lARGest holDeRs of listeD secuRities

the names of the twenty largest holders of each class of listed securities are listed below:

ordinary shares

Name No of ordinary 
shares held

Percentage of 
issued shares

Merryl Lynch (australia) Nominees pty Limited <Berndale a/C> 23,212,387 12.85%
Nusantara energy Limited 10,916,678 6.04%
Mr John david Hopkins & Mrs Karyn Hopkins <Jd & Kd Super Fund a/C> 8,332,649 4.61%
Mr andrew Kenneth Winstanley 8,332,649 4.61%
HSBC Custody Nominees (australia) Limited – GSCo eCa 7,199,171 3.98%
arredo pty Ltd 7,000,000 3.87%
Jp Morgan Nominees australia Limited <Cash income a/C> 6,854,611 3.79%
trillium investments pty Ltd 6,674,510 3.69%
Broadscope pty Ltd <Catlow Family a/C> 5,702,861 3.16%
Mr eddie Sugar 5,294,861 2.93%
Bainpro Nominees pty Limited 5,000,000 2.77%
Crown Valley resources Limited 3,000,000 1.66%
HSBC Custody Nominees (australia) Limited 2,872,800 1.59%
Brispot Nominees pty Ltd <House Head Nominee No 1 a/C> 2,867,202 1.59%
indosean investment pte Ltd 2,550,000 1.41%
Notochord pty Ltd 2,483,322 1.37%
Spo equities pty Ltd <March Street equity a/C> 2,380,756 1.32%
Grandor pty Ltd <Mark Scott Family p/F a/C> 2,166,488 1.20%
Grandor pty Ltd <Mark Scott Family p/F a/C> 2,000,000 1.11%
Mr William richard Brown 1,771,958 0.98%
total top 20 116,612,903 64.54%
others 64,083,743 35.46%
total ordinary shares on issue 180,696,646 100.00%

2. DistRiButioN of eQuity secuRities

analysis of numbers of shareholders by size of holding:

ordinary shares

Distribution
Number of 

shareholders
Number of  

shares
1 – 1,000 480 280,318
1,001 – 5,000 516 1,372,785
5,001 – 10,000 156 1,273,092
10,001 – 100,000 406 15,096,189
More than 100,000 150 162,674,262
totals 1,708 180,696,646

there were 719 holders of less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares.

3. votiNG RiGhts

See Note 16(b) of the Notes to the Financial Statements.

4. suBstANtiAl shAReholDeRs

as at 30 September 2010, Substantial Shareholder notices have been received from the following:

substantial shareholder Number of shares
anglo pacific Group plc 20,060,144
Keith Brooks 9,902,553

aSX additioNaL iNForMatioN
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5. uNQuoteD secuRities

the names of the security holders holding more than 20% of an unlisted class of security are listed below:

class A Performance shares Number
29 holders (less than 20%) 20,000,000
total 20,000,000

class c Performance shares Number
29 holders (less than 20%) 15,000,000
total 15,000,000

class D Performance shares Number
29 holders (less than 20%) 20,000,000
total 20,000,000

class e Performance shares Number
29 holders (less than 20%) 20,000,000
total 20,000,000

class A incentive options exercisable @$0.30 on or before 30 November 2011 Number
Broadscope pty Ltd <Catlow Family a/C> 1,666,667
trillium investments pty Ltd 1,666,667
Mr paul Kopejtka & Ms Karen Kopejtka <Kopejtka Share a/C> 1,666,666
4 other holders (less than 20%) 2,200,000
total 7,200,000

class B incentive options exercisable @ $0.30 on or before 31 December 2011 Number
Broadscope pty Ltd <Catlow Family a/C> 1,666,667
trillium investments pty Ltd 1,666,666
Mr paul Kopejtka & Ms Karen Kopejtka <Kopejtka Share a/C> 1,666,667
4 other holders (less than 20%) 2,200,000
total 7,200,000

class c incentive options exercisable @ $0.30 on or before 30 june 2012 Number
Broadscope pty Ltd <Catlow Family a/C> 1,666,666
trillium investments pty Ltd 1,666,667
Mr paul Kopejtka & Ms Karen Kopejtka <Kopejtka Share a/C> 1,666,667
4 other holders (less than 20%) 2,200,000
total 7,200,000

class A vendor options exercisable @ $0.20 on or before 1 october 2014 Number
Broadscope pty Ltd <Catlow Family a/C> 500,000
Mr Collis James thorp 500,000
edward aryeh Sugar 1,000,000
total 2,000,000

class B vendor options exercisable @ $1.00 on or before 1 March 2014 Number
Broadscope pty Ltd <Catlow Family a/C> 1,000,000
total 1,000,000

unlisted options exercisable at $1.20 on or before 30 November 2010 Number
Black Swan Capital pty Ltd 500,000
Ms Colleen Joy Fogarty 500,000
3 other holders (less than 20%) 550,000
total 1,550,000

unlisted options exercisable at $0.75 on or before 31 December 2010 Number
indosean investment pte Ltd 1,500,000
total 1,500,000
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6. oN-MARket Buy BAck

there is currently no on-market buy back program for any of indo Mines Limited’s listed securities.

7. exPloRAtioN iNteRests

as at 30 September 2010, the Company has an interest in the following projects:

Project Name
Permit 

Number
Percentage 

interest

indonesia
Jogjakarta Contract  

of Work
70%

Peru
Chinguela 01-01282-96 100%

Nangali 01-00038-01 30%
01-00039-01 30%
01-00553-01 30%
01-00554-01 30%
01-00555-01 30%
01-00556-01 30%
01-01177-02 30%

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



www.indomines.com.au

iNDo MiNes ltD

level 1, 15 Rheola street
west Perth wA 6005

telephone:  +61 8 9322 1825
facsimile:  +61 8 9322 1826
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